

University of Crete

Department of Medical School

Laboratory of Clinical Chemistry



Master thesis:

The role of PHF8 in metabolism during macrophage activation

Postgraduate Program: Molecular Biology Biomedicine

Ismini Marava A.M.: 445

Supervisor: Professor Christos Tsatsanis

A. Acknowledgements

Many people contributed to the completion of this master thesis. First of all I would like to thank my supervisor and Professor at the Medical School of University of Crete Christos Tsatsanis for accepting me to the laboratory of "Clinical Chemistry", for giving me the opportunity to work at this project and for his valuable guidance and advice.

I would also like to thank my supervisor Maria Daskalaki for her valuable help and support, the theoretiacal and technical knowledge she eagerly shared with me and her assistance at every stage of my project.

Last but not least I would like to thank all the lab members Rania Kolliniati, Ioanna Lappi, Ioanna Pantazi and Elina Paflioti, Evangelia Kandilaki, Stergios Hadjisevastos and Clara Skira for their help, the collaborative and pleasant atmosphere in the lab. All this process wouldn't be the same without you.

Contents

A. A	cknowledgements2	
Abst	ract	
Περ	ίληψη6	
B. Introduction7		
	B.1 Innate immune response/macrophages7	
	B.1.1 M1 and M2 macrophages7	
	B.1.2 Transcriptional regulation of macrophage plasticity	
	B.2 Epigenetics	
	B.2.1 Epigenetic regulation of macrophage activation9	
	B.2.2 Epigenetic modifications	
	B.2.2.1 Histone acetylation/Histone deacetylation10	
	B.2.2.2 Histone methylation11	
	B.2.2.3 Histone demethylation12	
	B.2.3 Histone demethylase PHF8	
	B.3 Immunometabolism	
	B.3.1 Metabolic pathways in macrophages14	
	B.3.1.1 Glycolysis	
	B.3.1.2 TCA cycle and fatty acid metabolism	
	B.3.1.3 Amino Acid metabolism	
	B.3.2 Metabolites in immune response	
	B.4 Trained immunity and endotoxin tolerance	
	B.4.1 Metabolic and epigenetic regulation of trained immunity19	
	B.5 Akt/mTOR pathway	
	B.6 E.R. stress	
C. P	urpose of the study	
D. N	1aterials and methods	
	D.1 Mice	
	D.2 Aseptic peritonitis	
	D.3 Peritoneal macrophages and BMDMs collection	
	D.4 Cell culture	
	D.5 Endotoxin Tolerance protocol	
	D.6 Cell culture treatments	
	D.7 Mitotracker Green Assay	

D.8 Elisa			
D.9 Western Blot Analysis 25			
D.10 RNA extraction and real time PCR25			
D.11 RNAseq			
D.12 Transfection			
D.13 Statistical analysis26			
E. Results			
E.1 RNA sequencing in Raw264.7 cells overexpressing PHF8 27			
E.2 PHF8 overexpression attenuates the expression of LPS induced immune related genes but positively regulates IFN-β pathway genes			
E.3 PHF8 regulates metabolic genes32			
E.4 PHF8 positively regulates mTORC1 at the naïve state but impairs its activation after LPS stimulation			
E.5 PHF8 positively regulates ER stress related genes			
E.6 Autophagy is upregulated in RAW264.7 PHF8 overexpressing cells			
E.7 PHF8 negatively regulates macrophage classic activation in mouse BMDMs			
E.8 α-KG induces PHF8			
E.9 PHF8 does not epigenetically underlie the hyporesponsive phenotype observed in AKT2 ^{-/-} mice			
F. Discussion			
G. Future Perspectives			
H. References			

Abstract

Macrophages as a population display great heterogeneity and serve various functions in immune response including elimination of pathogens, resolution of inflammation and tissue homeostasis. In response to different stimuli they exhibit great plasticity reflected at the transcriptional, epigenetic and metabolic level. Metabolism has a central role during macrophage activation. Different polarizing signals cause distinct metabolic changes, which govern macrophage activation and support the great macrophage plasticity. PHF8 is a Jumonji C domain containing histone lysine demethylase. Preliminary data have shown differences in inflammatory response in Raw264.7 cells overexpressing (O/E) PHF8 and Raw264.7 cells knock out (K.O.) for PHF8 with cells overexpressing PHF8 having lower levels of proinflammatory markers production and K.O. cells having enhanced proinflammatory phenotype after LPS stimulation. We performed RNA sequencing in these cells to gain further insight into the mechanism of PHF8 regulation of immune response. The results revealed differences in metabolic genes such as genes involved in lipid and protein biosynthesis, whose regulation of expression by PHF8 may underlie its inhibitory role in classic macrophage activation. In support to this notion mTORC1, a central complex which incorporates various signals and regulates metabolic pathways was positively regulated by PHF8 at the naïve state, but had impaired activation after LPS treatment in cells overexpressing PHF8. mTORC1 activates Hif1a, which in turn control glycolytic gene expression, a hallmark of M1 macrophages. Consistent with mTORC1 activation, major glycolytic genes such as hk3 and pfkp have increased expression at the naïve state but no further induction in PHF8 overexpressing cells, which could explain the reduced responsiveness of PHF8 O/E cells. Additionally in the RNA sequencing results we observed increased expression of E.R. stress induced genes, which we also validated by western blot. The negative role of PHF8 in classic macrophage activation was also observed in mouse BMDMs combined with enhanced TNF production at the endotoxin tolerant state in PHF8 knock down BMDMs. mTORC1 activation was also increased at the endotoxin tolerant state in PHF8 knock down BMDMs. Last but not least we showed that PHF8 expression is induced post α -KG treatment, a metabolite known to induce tolerance, indicating that PHF8 is a possible mediator of this phenotype. In conclusion, we showed in the present study that the histone demethylase PHF8 is a negative regulator of macrophage activation and an important regulator of macrophage metabolism revealing its potential role in shaping macrophage phenotype in the context of endotoxin tolerance.

Περίληψη

Τα μακροφάγα αποτελούν έναν εξαιρετικά ετερογενή πληθυσμό, τα οποία επιτελούν ποικίλους ρόλους στην ανοσολογική απόκριση όπως η αντιμετώπιση των παθογόνων, η επίλυση της φλεγμονής και η διατήρηση της ομοιόστασης του ιστού. Παρουσία διαφορετικών σημάτων αποκτούν διαφορετικούς φαινοτύπους που χαρακτηρίζονται από διακριτή μεταγραφική, επιγενετική και μεταβολική ρύθμιση. Ο μεταβολισμός έχει κεντρικό ρόλο στην ενεργοποίηση των μακροφάγων. Διαφορετικά σήματα προκαλούν αλλαγές στον μεταβολισμό, οι οποίες επηρεάζουν την ενεργοποίηση των μακροφάγων και υποστηρίζουν την λειτουργική τους ετερογένεια. Η PHF8 ανήκει στην οικογένεια των απομεθυλασών λυσίνης που περιέχουν τομέα jumonji C. Αρχικά δεδομένα του εργαστηρίου είχαν δείξει διαφορές στην έκφραση προφλεγμονωδών γονιδίων σε κυτταρικές σειρές Raw264.7 που υπερεκφράζουν την PHF8 και κυτταρικές σειρές Raw264.7 όπου η PHF8 έχει σιγηθεί. Οι κυτταρικές σειρές που υπερεκφράζουν την PHF8 εμφανίζουν χαμηλότερη έκφραση προφλεγμονωδών μαρτύρων, ενώ το αντίθετο παρατηρείται στις knock out κυτταρικές σειρές μετά από επαγωγή με LPS. Προκειμένου να διερευνήσουμε περαιτέρω τον μηχανισμό με τον οποίο η PHF8 ρυθμίζει την ανοσολογική απόκριση πραγματοποιήσαμε πείραμα αλληλούχισης RNA. Τα αποτελέσματα αποκάλυψαν διαφορές σε μεταβολικά γονίδια όπως γονίδια που εμπλέκονται στη βιοσύνθεση λιπιδίων και πρωτεϊνών, η ρύθμιση των οποίων από την PHF8 πιθανόν να αποτελεί ένα μηχανισμό μέσω του οποίου η PHF8 ρυθμίζει την ενεργοποίηση των μακροφάγων. Παράλληλα εντοπίσαμε διαφορές στην ενεργοποίηση του mTORC1, σύμπλοκο στο οποίο επιδρούν ποικίλα ερεθίσματα και ρυθμίζει μεταβολικά μονοπάτια. Κύτταρα που υπερέκφραζαν την PHF8 παρουσίαζαν αυξημένη ενεργοποίηση του συμπλόκου mTORC1 στα βασικά επίπεδα, ενώ αυτό δεν εμφάνιζε περαιτέρω ενεργοποίηση μετά από επαγωγή με LPS σε αντίθεση με τα κύτταρα αναφοράς. Το mTORC1 ενεργοποιεί τον μεταγραφικό παράγοντα Hif1a, ο οποίος με τη σειρά του ρυθμίζει την έκφραση γλυκολυτικών γονιδίων, χαρακτηριστικό των Μ1 μακροφάγων. Σε συμφωνία με τα αποτελέσματα σχετικά με την ενεργοποίηση του mTORC1 γλυκολυτικά γονίδια όπως η εξοκινάση 3 (hk3) και η φωσφοφρουκτοκινάση (pfkp) εμφανίζουν αυξημένη έκφραση στα βασικά επίπεδα αλλά δεν εμφανίζουν επιπλέον αύξηση μετά από χειρισμό με LPS στα κύτταρα που υπερεκφράζουν την PHF8, φαινόμενο που θα μπορούσε να εξηγεί την μειωμένη έκφραση κυτταροκινών στα κύτταρα που υπερεκφράζουν την PHF8. Επιπροσθέτως τα αποτελέσματα της αλληλούχισης RNA έδειξαν αυξημένη έκφραση γονιδίων που σχετίζονται με το stress ενδοπλασματικού δικτύου, αποτέλεσμα το οποίο επιβεβαιώσαμε και με ανάλυση κατά Western. Ο ανασταλτικός ρόλος της PHF8 στην κλασσική ενεργοποίηση των μακροφάγων όπως και αυξημένη παραγωγή TNF μετά από πρωτόκολλο ανοχής στην ενδοτοξίνη παρατηρήθηκε επίσης και σε BMDMs ποντικών μετά από σίγηση της PHF8. Τέλος δείξαμε ότι η PHF8 επάγεται μετά από χειρισμό με α-κετογλουταρικό, έναν μεταβολίτη που έχει δειχθεί ότι επάγει ανοχή. Συνεπώς η PHF8 θα μπορούσε να είναι ένας επιγενετικός ρυθμιστής που διαμεσολαβεί αυτόν τον φαινότυπο. Συμπερασματικά στην παρούσα εργασία δείξαμε ότι η απομεθυλάση ιστονών PHF8 είναι βασικός ρυθμιστής της ενεργοποίησης των μακροφάγων όπως και του μεταβολισμού, ενώ πιθανόν συντελεί στην ανάπτυξη της ανοχής στην ενδοτοξίνη.

B. Introduction

B.1 Innate immune response/macrophages

Innate immune cells are considered to be the first line of defense against invading pathogens. The large group of innate immune cells consists of macrophages, dendritic cells, NK cells, neutrophils, basophils, eosinophils and mast cells[1]. Macrophages are distributed throughout all body tissues and organs. They are produced both by self-maintaining tissue resident populations and by differentiation of blood circulating monocytes derived from bone marrow[2]. Macrophage primary functions include cytokine and chemokine production, phagocytosis and antigen presentation. In response to pathogens or noxious stimuli they initiate inflammation and recruit additional immune cells, while they also remove cell debris and dead cells, thus contributing to tissue homeostasis[3]. Macrophages express pattern recognition receptors (PRRs), which comprise of surface and endosomal receptors (TLRs), cytosolic receptors (RLRs), NOD like receptors (NLRs) and C-type lectin receptors (CLRs)[4],[5]. PRRs recognize pathogen's PAMPs (pathogen associated molecular patterns), DAMPs (Damage associated molecular pattern) produced after danger signal or cytokines and activate downstream signaling cascades leading to activation of key inflammatory orchestrators such as NF-Kb, AP-1 and IRFs[6].

B.1.1 M1 and M2 macrophages

Macrophages are an extremely heterogeneous population. In response to different stimuli they exhibit great plasticity characterized by distinct phenotypes and functions[7]. Macrophage activation states are broadly categorized into M1 or classic polarization and M2 or alternative polarization[8]. Signals inducing M1 macrophage polarization include LPS, IFN- γ or LPS+IFN- γ while IL4, IL10, IL13, TGF- β , glycocorticoids induce M2 polarization[9],[10]. More specifically M2 macrophages are divided into subcategories defined by different marker production and function. M2a macrophages produce after IL4 and IL13 stimulation, M2b after immunoglobulin complexes combined with TLR agonists and M2c after IL10, TGF- β or glycocorticoids[11]. M1 macrophages possess proinflammatory phenotype and enhanced bacterial-killing capacity, while M2 macrophages display anti inflammatory properties, they upregulate pro-fibrotic and tissue repair genes and mainly contribute to the resolution of inflammation, wound healing and parasite infections[9],[10]. Perturbations in M1/M2 polarization contribute to the pathology of several diseases including inflammatory disorders, obesity, type two diabetes, atherosclerosis and cancer[3].

Macrophage polarization is a tightly regulated process. Coordination of various inflammatory molecules, signaling cascades and transcription factors underlies the distinct macrophage functional phenotypes[12]. M1 macrophages are characterized by increased production of proinflammatory cytokines and chemokines including TNF, IL1, IL6, IL12, type I interferons, CXCL1-3, CXCL5 and CXCL8-10[13]. They produce high levels of NO and possess elevated levels of reactive oxygen intermediates (ROI)[14]. On the other hand M2 macrophages have enhanced expression and activity of arginase 1 and display upregulation of Dectin-1, DC-SIGN, mannose receptor, scavenger receptor A, scavenger receptor B-1, CD163, CCR2, CXCR1, and CXCR2[15],[10]. Additional M2 markers include Ym1 and Fizz[16].

M2 macrophages mainly generate anti-inflammatory cytokines such as IL10. There is a crosstalk between macrophage polarization pathways[17].



Figure 1: Immune system cells[18]

B.1.2 Transcriptional regulation of macrophage plasticity

The enhanced macrophage plasticity relies on the timely regulation of gene expression resulting from interaction of signaling molecules, transcription and epigenetic factors. Polarizing signals promote specific transcriptional programs determined by LDTFs (Lineage Determining Transcription Factors) such as PU.1, C/EBPs (CCAAT/enhancer binding proteins), AP-1 (activator protein 1), or RUNX1 (Runt-related transcription factor 1) as well as SDTFs (Signal Dependent Transcription Factors) including NF-κB, AP-1, Stat1 and Stat6. IRF/STAT is a key signaling pathway regulated differentially by M1 and M2 polarization signals[19]. Activation of IRF/Stat pathway via TLR ligants or IFNs coordinates M1 polarization via stat1. Two adaptor proteins: Myd88 and TRIF of TLR4 mediate the signaling cascade after LPS binding to TLR4. Activation of downstream kinases including IRAK4, TRAF6, IKKβ lead to NFkB activation[20]. NF-κB is a transcription factor and a central mediator of the inflammatory program regulating genes such as TNF, IL6, IL1β, COX2 and IL12p40[21]. Proinflammatory signaling leads to I-KB proteasomal degradation after phosphorylation by IKK. This releases NF-kB p65/p50 heterodimer from the NF-kB/I-kB inhibitory complex and allows NF-kB heterodimer nuclear translocation and proinflammatory NF-KB dependent genes transcription[12],[22]. TRIF adaptor mediates IFN α and IFN β production through IRF3 activation. IFN α and IFN β binding to IFNR leads to Stat1 activation[23]. Stat transcription factors are regulated by members of the SOCS family (Suppressor of Cytokine Signaling), which are activated both by cytokine signaling pathways and directly by TLRs and modulate responsiveness to cytokines and TLR signaling, thus limiting inflammatory signaling[24]. Extensive TLR signaling also activates negative regulators such as IRAK-M, ST-2, SOCS1, a

short version of MyD88 (MyD88sh) and SHIPs as observed in cases of polymicrobial sepsis[25],[26],[27]. Correspondingly IRF/stat pathway engagement by M2 polarizing signals controls Stat3 activation by IL10 or Stat6 by IL4 and IL13 orchestrating M2 polarization associated with immune tolerance and tissue repairing[28]. Downstream of Stat6, activation of KLF4 and PPAR γ promotes the M2 genes transcription[29],[30],. C-Myc and IRF4 transcription factors also participate in this process[31]. Activated Stat6 by IL4 induces direct repression of enhancers of proinflammatory genes by limiting binding of LDTFs (Lineage Determining Transcription Factors) such as PU.1, JUNB, C/EBP α and acetyltransferases such as p300, thus reducing chromatin accessibility and decreased LPS induced inflammasome activation, IL-1 β production and pyroptosis genes expression[32]. IL10 binding to IL10R promotes M2 polarization by activating c-Maf, stat3 and by promoting NF- κ B p50 homodimer[28, 33].



Figure 2: M1 and M2 macrophage polarization[34]

B.2 Epigenetics

B.2.1 Epigenetic regulation of macrophage activation

Epigenetics refers to the regulation of gene expression without changing the DNA sequence. Epigenetic modifications alter chromatin conformation, thus affecting DNA accessibility and transcriptional machinery assembly. Although traditionally considered as stable and hereditary epigenetic modifications are dynamically regulated by different signals providing a way to switch rapidly between transcriptional programs and subsequently determine macrophage activation phenotype[35]. Activation of inflammatory signaling cascades regulate epigenetic modifications at the promoters of inflammatory mediators, cytokines and chemokines, thus affecting transcriptional activation and immune function[36],[37]. Epigenetic regulation includes DNA modifications, histone post-translational modifications, chromatin modifications and non coding RNAs[38]. Histone modifications include acetylation, methylation, phosphorylation, SUMOylation, ubiquitinilation of lysine, arginine, serine and other histone residues[39]. They occur at the gene promoters in proximity to the transcription start site and at the enhancers[40]. The dynamic nature of histone modifications and removal underlies the transcriptional changes that accompany inflammatory response as well as transition to inflammatory resolving phenotype. Broad epigenetic alterations characterize different macrophage phenotypes, including M1, M2 polarization as well as training and endotoxin tolerance[41].

Epigenetic regulation of macrophages is coordinated by tissue specific transcription factors as well as lineage specific transcription factors established during myeloid development. Lineage Determining Transcription Factors (LDTFs) can open chromatin conformation allowing the recruitment of further regulatory elements[42]. A hierarchical model for regulation of macrophage functions has been proposed, where a small number of LDTFs compete with nucleosomes for DNA binding in a cell specific manner. PU.1 is considered a pioneer factor and a master regulator of chromatin accessibility[43]. PU.1 binding further recruits other transcription factors including both other LDTFs, for example C/EBP family members and AP1 as well as SDTFs (Signal Dependent Transcription Factors) such as STATs, IRFs and NF-κB, thus priming DNA accessibility[44]. Moreover PU.1 recruitment marks cellspecific enhancers and contributes to basal DNA priming by controlling H₃K₄me₁ enhancer modification and $H_3K_4me_3$ at the promoters, setting a genome landscape prepared for appropriate response after stimulation[43]. Differentiated macrophages prior to stimulation have relatively "open" chromatin conformation on proinflammatory loci defined by master pioneer transcription factors such as PU.1 and C/EBP family members enhancer binding[43]. In the absence of activating signals enhancers are also occupied by repressive complexes and repressive histone marks such as $H_3K_{27}me_3$, H_3 K $_9me_2$, $H_4K_{20}me_3$, thus maintaining a poised state[45]. After TLR stimulation SDTFs activation including MAPKs, NF-KB and IRFs control eviction of corepressors and removal of inhibitory histone marks, therefore promoting proinflammatory genes expression[46]. Additionally activating histone marks such as $H_3K_4me_3$ and $H_3K_{27}Ac$ increase at the promoters of inflammatory genes[47].

B.2.2 Epigenetic modifications

B.2.2.1 Histone acetylation/Histone deacetylation

Histone acetylation status affects chromatin architecture and accessibility of transcriptional machinery. In general histone acetylation loosens chromatin structure and increases transcription while deacetylation associates with compact chromatin structure and diminished accessibility of the transcriptional machinery[48]. Inflammatory signals promote increase in histones acetylation levels[49]. Promoters of immediately induced genes upon proinflammatory stimulation bear high levels of H₃K₉Ac[50]. Also proinflammatory stimulation increases acetylation of several histone marks such as H₄K₅, H₄K₈, H₄K₁₂ at the promoters of primary response genes[51]. Histone acetyltransferase p300 has been shown to increase H₃K₂₇ and H₃K₁₈ acetylation at the promoters of inflammatory genes[52]. Correspondingly deacetylation by HDACs is a mechanism of proinflammatory gene silencing at the phase of resolution of inflammatory genes are occupied by HDACs, transcription

repressors such as BCL6 and demethylases inducing closed chromatin and gene silencing[54]. However depending on the HDAC enzyme and the promoters regulated, HDACs can have both positive and negative effect on TLR and interferon signaling. In general class 1 HDACs have a negative role on inflammatory genes regulation either by histone deacetylation or other mechanisms[55]. For example HDAC1 represses promoters of TLRinduced genes such as COX2, IFN-β and IL12p40 (interleukin 12 subunit p40)[55],[56]. TET2recruites HDAC1 and HDAC2 to repress IL6 production during late macrophage activation[57]. HDACs also negatively control NF-kB transcriptional activity. HDAC3 indirectly inhibits NF-kB signaling by deacetylating p65 subunit and thus promoting interaction with the NF-kB inhibitory subunit IkB[56]. Also NF-kB repressor subunit p50 recruits HDAC1 at the promoters of proinflammatory genes including ccl2, cxcl10, GM-csf, mp13 in order to mediate their repression[53]. However HDACs also promote M1 polarization. HDAC3 is required for M1 polarization as evidenced by HDAC3 macrophage depletion models in which macrophages exhibit hyperresponsiveness to IL4[58]. Interestingly general HDAC inhibition has been shown to reduce proinflammatory response in terms of cytokine, chemokine and other inflammatory mediators, has protective role against sepsis[59, 60].

B.2.2.2 Histone methylation

Histone methylation can have both activating and repressive role on transcription determined by the residue methylated and the number of methyl groups added. Histone Lysine methyltransferases (KMTs) catalyze the transfer of one, two or three methyl groups from S' adenosyl methionine (SAM) to the ε amino group of the lysine residue. Apart from DOT1L (H₃K₇₉ methylation) all KMTs identifies contain a SET (Su(var)3-9, enhancer-of-zeste, trithorax) catalytic domain, essential for their enzymatic activity[61]. There are nine families of lysine metyltransferases (EZ, SET1, SET2, SMYD, SUV39, SUV4-20, RIZ SET8/PR-SET7 and SET7/9) categorized based on the homology of their SET domain[61]. KMTs exhibit strict specificity for their enzymatic activity and they impact gene transcription by affecting recruitment of readers and other transcription regulators. Different histone marks associate with transcriptional activation of transcriptional repression. $H_3K_4me_3$ catalyzed primarily by the COMPASS complex (complex of proteins associated with Set1), which consists of six family members in humans, characterizes active chromatin state and its presences increases at the promoters of proinflammatory genes after classic activation polarizing signals. Silencing of different components of the COMPASS complex such as ASH2, WDR5, SET1 reduces proinflammatory mediators production, including IL1B, IL6, MCP1, TNF upon LPS stimulation[62],[63]. Mechanistically it has been shown that MRTF-A transcription factor is recruited by p65 subunit of the NF-kB and subsequently recruits COMPASS complex components such as ASH2 to promote trimethylation of H3K4 and this way facilitate NF-kB mediated transcription[64]. Ablation of another COMPASS complex component, MLL1 (or KMT2A) also results in decreased proinflammatory genes production after LPS, IFN-γ or LPS+IFN-y. Surprisingly MLL1 deficient BMDMs exhibited enhanced phagocytosis and bacterial killing suggesting distinct regulation for inflammatory response and bactericidal activity[65]. Histone methyltransferases coordinate effective immune response both by positively regulating the transcription of inflammatory genes and by silencing negative signaling regulators. For example, KMT2B methyltransferase increases the activating histone mark $H_3K_4me_3$ at the promoter of PIGP gene in primary macrophages, which mediates the anchoring of CD14 at the plasma membrane to promote TLR signaling[66]. EZH1, the catalytic subunit of PRC2 (Polycomb Repressor Complex) catalyzes the trimethylation of H_3K_{27} and subsequent transcriptional silencing of Tollip, a negative regulator of TLR4 signaling[67]. $H_3K_9me_2$ and $H_3K_9me_3$ written by EHMT1 and EHMT2 are repressive histone marks, found at the promoters and enhancers of proinflammatory mediators in the absence of activating signal[68]. Stimulus induced removal of repressive marks mediated by demethylases induces transcriptional activation. Also inhibition of the H_3K_9 demethylation from IFN- β promoters through a noncanonical NF-kB pathway, is a mechanism employed by viruses to reduce antiviral immunity[69]. Another repressive histone mark observed at the promoters of TLR4 responsive promoters in the absence of stimulation is $H_4K_{20}me_3$ written by SMYD5[70].

B.2.2.3 Histone demethylation

Histone demethylases remove methyl groups from lysine or arginine residues. Since the discovery of the fist KDM in 2004, it was believed that histone methylation is irreversible. Lysine demethylases (KDMs) are divided into two families. The FAD dependent amine oxidases and the Jumonji C containing catalytic domain, which use α -ketoglutarate, Fe2⁺ and molecular oxygen as cofactors[71]. The FAD dependent family of KDM1 consists of KDM1A/LSD1 and KDM1B/LSD2. They catalyze the removal of mono and dimethylated H3K4 residues but cannot remove trimethylated H_3K_4 [72]. The jmjC domain family of KDMs, KDM2-7 can remove all three methyl groups[71]. A great number of studies have described the involvement of different KDMs in inflammation and immune response. KDM6B orJMJD3 was found to be strongly induced after 2 hours of LPS and LPS +IFNy. JMJD3 mediates the demethylation of H_3K_{27} me2/3 at the promoters of inflammatory mediators and immune modulatory genes thus inducing their transcription[73]. JMJD3 is directly targeted to the promoters by the p65 subunit of NF-kB, the master regulator of inflammatory response[74]. JMJD3 also regulates M2 genes. After IL-4 stimulation JMJD3 demethylates the repressive mark H₃K₂₇me2/3 of M2 program genes in a Stat6 dependent manner[75]. Interestingly enough jmjd3^{-/-} macrophages display normal M1, but impaired M2 polarization[76]. KDM6B promotes IL6 expression by removing the repressive H₃K₂₇me₃ from IL6 promoter, while it also promotes IFN- β expression by an indirect mechanism. It interacts with the writer MLL4, which catalyzes H₃K₄me₂ at the enhancer of IFN-B. PHF2 is another lysine demethylase found upregulated at the early stage of LPS stimulation. PHF2, recruited by p65 subunit of NF-kB catalyzes the removal of the repressive histone modification $H_4K_{20}me_3$ from the promoters of TLR4 induced genes such as Cxcl10 and TNF[70]. Also a non-classical mechanism independent from its demethylase activity has been described for KDM2B. In activated macrophages KDM2B interacts with Brg1 (Brahma related gene 1), which is the core ATPase subunit of the SWI/SNF chromatin remodeling complex at the promoter of IL6 gene, thus promoting its transcription[77]. H_3K_9 demethylases control gene activation by removing the repressive marks $H_3K_9me_3$ and $H_3K_9me_2$ from promoters and enhancers of PRR induced genes and associate with NF-kB dependent inflammatory genes transcription[68],[78]. Upon PRR stimulation LSD2/KDM1b interacts with c-Rel subunit of NF-kB, which preassembles at low levels at the promoters of its target genes, thus promoting H₃K₉me₂ demethylation and gene transcription[78].



Figure 3: Epigenetic regulation of macrophage activation[37]

B.2.3 Histone demethylase PHF8

PHF8 or KDM7B is a histone lysine demethylase which belongs to the family of 2oxoglutarate and ferrous ion dependent hydrolases. PHF8 (Plant Homeodomain Finger protein 8) contains two functional domains: an aminoterminal PHD finger which recognizes methylated lysine residues and jumonji C carboxyterminal domain which catalyzes histone demethylation[79]. It has a higher selectivity for mono and dimethylated residues and has been shown to have catalytic activity towards histone H₃K₉me2/me1, H₄K₂₀me₁, and/or H₃K₂₇me₂ residues[80],[81],[82],[83]. Loss of function mutations in PHF8 cause Siderius Xlinked intellectual disability characterized by developmental delay, intellectual disability, craniofacial dismorphisms and cleft lip and/or cleft palate depending on the loss-of-function variant[84]. PHF8 has been extensively studied in the context of cancer. It has been described as an oncogene and its role in tumour development and metastasis has been highlighted in several types of cancer[85],[86],[87]. PHF8 is also involved in neuronal differentiation, cell cycle progression, rRNA synthesis, cell adhesion, cytoskeletal organization and somatic cell reprogramming[83],[88],[81],[89],[90]. PHF8 depletion has been found to cause cognitive and memory impairments by upregulation of mTOR signaling in the hippocampus of PHF8^{--/--} mice[91]. There is very little literature regarding the role of PHF8 in immune response. A study suggests PHF8 participates in T cell activation and proliferation in LPS-induced acute inflammation[92]. Also (Asensio-Juan,E., et al.) show that PHF8 interacts with HDAC1 and SIN1A at the promoters of IFN_Y induced genes in the absence of IFN_Y stimulus and represses their transcription by demethylating $H_4K_{20}me_1$ [93] Evidence from our lab has shown that, among other epigenetic and transcriptional regulators, PHF8 silencing in macrophages results in enhancement of iNOS expression and a pro-inflammatory phenotype (figure 4).



<u>Figure 4</u>: Knock down of PHF8 increases iNOS production measured as average fluorescence intensity. PHF8 is indicated in the arrow

B.3 Immunometabolism

B.3.1 Metabolic pathways in macrophages

During the last decades there is a growing body of evidence regarding the role of metabolism in immune response, as it is an energy demanding process, generating the field of immunometabolism. Cellular metabolism refers to the way that metabolic molecules are channeled into different pathways for energy generation and metabolic substrates production, a process that is transcriptionally and epigenetically regulated. Some key pathways include glycolysis, oxidative phosphorylation, amino acid metabolism, pentose phosphate pathway, fatty acid oxidation and fatty acid synthesis. Macrophages respond to environmental cues and acquire an array of phenotypes. During this process they also undergo metabolic rewiring and acquire distinct metabolic profiles which characterize

different activation states. Activated, M1 macrophages metabolically switch to glycolysis and pentose phosphate pathway, they upregulate fatty acid synthesis and display a broken TCA cycle. On the other hand M2 anti-inflammatory macrophages rely on OXPHOS and fatty acid oxidation for their metabolic needs while they have an intact TCA cycle. Also amino acid metabolism is differentially regulated in M1 and M2 macrophages[94],[95],[96].



Figure 5: immunometabolic pathways at different macrophage activation states[94]

B.3.1.1 Glycolysis

Glycolysis is a common pathway often used by rapidly proliferating cells to oxidize glucose. Although it is an inefficient way of energy production, yielding only 2 ATP molecules per glucose molecule compared to OXPHOS which produces 36 ATP molecules per glucose unit, glycolysis is a rapid way of ATP production as it takes place at the cytoplasm and depends on the induction of glycolytic enzymes while OXPHOS requires mitochondrial mass production. More importantly glycolysis produces key metabolic intermediates which support biosynthetic processes. Specifically glycolysis provides substrates used in PPP for nucleotide biosynthesis, pyruvate acid which is converted into acetyl coA and fuels the TCA cycle, intermediates for amino acid and fatty acid biosynthesis and glycosylation reactions. LPSactivated macrophages as well as DCs, NK cells, effector T cells, activated B cells turn to glycolysis which allows the rapid ATP production and provides the building blocks, needed to support proinflammatory immune function[97]. Increase in glycolysis also increases flux through pentose phosphate pathway which provides NADPH, used by NADPH oxidase for respiratory burst and microbial killing[98],[99]. The switch to glycolysis is controlled by Hif1a which causes the transcription of all glycolytic genes as well as glucose transporters[100]. Inhibition of glycolysis dampens inflammatory response as well as training of monocytes[101],[101],[102],[102]. Metabolic turn to glycolysis in actively proliferating cells has been described in tumour cells since 1927 and was termed Warburg effect[103]. However glycolysis is also important for anti-inflammatory macrophages. Glycolysis inhibition impairs M2 polarization upon IL4 stimulation, though it is suggested to be a rather indirect effect as glycolysis fuels the TCA cycle and reserves OXPHOS intact[104],[105].

B.3.1.2 TCA cycle and fatty acid metabolism

The TCA cycle in M1 macrophages appears fragmented. They display lower expression of isocitrate dehydrogenase (IDH) and succinate dehydrogenase leading to the accumulation of citrate and succinate[106]. Citrate is harnessed for itaconate production, an antimicrobial metabolite while succinate stabilizes Hif1a leading to the expression of proinflammatory genes[107],[108]. M1 and M2 macrophages also exhibit differences in fatty acid metabolic pathways. Fatty acid oxidation is upregulated in M2 macrophages and as well as observed in non-inflammatory and long-lived immune cells such as Treg and memory T cells[109]. Proinflammatory macrophages switch to fatty acid synthesis supported transcriptionally by sterol regulatory element binding proteins (SREBPs). Fatty acid synthesis leads to inflammatory intermediates production such as prostanglandins and mediate inflammasome activation[110]. M1 macrophages are in high demand of fatty acids and phospholipids since they undergo expansion in their ER network and Golgi to support increased cytokine secretion and phagocytosis[111]. mTORC1 supports lipogenic activity by activating srebp1 and srebp2, master regulators of lipid synthesis[112]. Therefore, defective lipid biosynthesis leads to lower TNF and IL6 levels and impaired phagocytosis[113]. On the contrary M2 macrophages are characterized by high levels of OXPHOS and display enhanced fatty acid uptake[114]. It has been shown that fatty acid oxidation chemical inhibition impairs IL4 induced M2 polarization, while expression of a constantly active carnitine palmitoyltransferase 1, the enzyme that targets long chain fatty acids in the mitochondria for oxidation, results in inhibition of palmitic acid induced M1 polarization[115]. A proposing mechanism by which fatty acid oxidation regulates M2 polarization is by activation of PPAR-y and the proliferator-activated receptor-coactivator 1β , which control the expression of antiinflammatory program genes[116]. Yet the exact mechanism is not fully understood.

B.3.1.3 Amino Acid metabolism

Amino acid metabolism also plays an important role and modulate immunity via multiple mechanisms. Amino acids support anabolic processes, they provide intermediates for post translational (PTMs) and epigenetic modifications and they also contribute to redox balance[117]. Differential metabolic use of amino acids supports distinct immune functions and characterizes different activation states. Depending on the metabolic pathway engaged, arginine can lead to either M1 or M2 phenotype. Proinflammatory signals cause upregulation of iNOS (NOS2). iNOS converts arginine to NO, which reacts with oxygen and ROS and produced several antimicrobial species. Anti-inflammatory macrophages induce arginase 1 activity which catabolizes arginine to ornithine, polyamines and urea, hallmarks of M2 phenotype[118]. In M1 macrophages glutaminolysis of glutamine causes anaplerosis of α -KG into the TCA cycle and supports succinate production needed for M1 polarization[119]. Glutamine is necessary for M2 polarization[120]. It fuels the hexosamine pathway, which provides with UDP-GlcNAc substrate used for protein and lipid glycosylation a phenotype observed in M2 polarized macrophages[121]. Glutamine deprivation leads to reduction in

M2 markers production after IL4 stimulation, an effect mediated by glutamine conversion to α -KG[120]. Also branched chain amino acids (BCAAs) are metabolized into CoA derivatives : acetyl CoA and succinyl-CoA and feed the TCA cycle[122]. Acetyl CoA is used for histone acetylation and epigenetically modulate gene transcription[123]. Acetylation of non-histone proteins also regulates their activation. NF-kB and NLRP3 are activated after acetylation as well as most glycolytic and TCA cycle enzymes[124],[125]. Accordingly in the presence of LPS stimulus BCAA transporters are upregulated and stimulate glucose uptake and immune response[126]. Serine also promotes glycolytic switch by activating PKM2, the enzyme catalyzing the conversion of PEP to pyruvate and supports the generation of 1 carbon units used in nucleotide synthesis and methionine recycling by feeding the folate and methionine cycle which lead to SAM production, the methyl groups donor for DNA, RNA and protein methylation, thus affecting gene expression and protein function[128]. Glutathione, a small molecule assembled from glycine, glutamate and cysteine serves for ROS detoxification and redox balance[129].

B.3.2 Metabolites in immune response

Pathogens and environmental cues cause metabolic rewiring in innate immune cells. These metabolic changes functionally support the distinct macrophage activation states[130]. Changes in cellular metabolic features impact on the transcriptional and epigenetic regulation, which in turn affects metabolic pathways and shapes immune response. Metabolites exert immunomodulatory roles [131]. They are used as cofactors for epigenetic enzymes and also as substrates for epigenetic modifications including methylation and acetylation reactions. They also serve as enzymatic cofactors and modulate the activity of transcription factors[123]. Histone acetylation increases chromatin accessibility and permits transcription[39]. During the induction of the immune response increased histone acetylation is related to the induction of proinflammatory genes[132]. Therefore availability of acetyl-CoA, the acetyl group donor for histone acetylation, impacts proinflammatory gene transcription while reduced levels of acetyl-CoA cause diminished cytokine production and endotoxin tolerance[133]. Apart from histones, post translational acetylation of other proteins also regulates their function [134]. NF-kB, the master regulator of proinflammatory genes transcription genes gets activated after acetylation at lysine 30 of RelA/p65 subunit[124]. Removal of the acetyl group by Sirt1 causes inactivation of NF-Kb[135]. S-Adenosyl methionine (SAM) is the methyl group donor which is used in DNA or histone methylation reactions and also in phospholipid synthesis[136]. In C. elegans SAM deprivation can attenuate immune response during Pseudomonas aeruginosa infection as a consequence of lower H₃K₄me₃ levels[137]. Also reduction in SAM levels boosts antiviral IFN- β immunity because of reduced H3K27me3 modification on antiviral gene promoters[138]. Buildup of succinate after LPS stimulation stabilizes Hif1a by inhibiting regulatory Hif hydrolases and leads to the induction of proinflammatory genes including IL-1 β [139]. It also causes succinylation of several enzymes including pyruvate kinase 2(PKM2), pyruvate dehydrogenase, succinyl dehydrogenase(SDH), acyl coA synthase1, thus affecting their function[139]. Citrate is also used as a substrate for itaconate production, a metabolite with bactericidal properties and anti-inflammatory role[140]. Dimethyl itaconate pretreatment causes reduced NO, ROS, IL1B, IL18 and IL6 production after LPS stimulation while the

opposite is observed in IRG1^{-/-} macrophages[141]. α -KG is another metabolite produced from the TCA cycle by isocitrate dehydrogenase[142]. It serves as cofactor for epigenetic enzymes and its role in epigenetic reprograming is well established. a-KG is a cofactor for JMJD and TET families of demethylases[74],[143]. Glutaminolysis derived α -KG has been shown to promote M2 polarization of macrophages through an JMJD3 dependent mechanism and reinforces M2 polarization of macrophages, an effect that is reinforced by high α -KG to succinate ratio while the opposite drives M1 polarization[120]. Mechanistically α -KG driven activation of JMJD3 causes demethylation of the repressive H₃K₂₇me₃ in the promoters of IL4 induced M2 genes including Arginase1, Ym1, Retnla, Mrc1[120]. It displays chemical antagonism with succinate, fumarate and 2-hydroxyglutarate and α -KG administration has been reported to counteract fumarate induced training[144],[145]. Additionally adipose derived α -KG exosomes transfer to macrophages and increase the M2 to M1 ratio by promoting TET mediated DNA demethylation and attenuating activation of Stat3/NF-kB[146]. Accumulated citrate produced by the break in TCA cycle upon M1 activation is exported to the cytoplasm and converted to acetyl CoA and oxaloacetate[147],[148]. Malonyl CoA produced by acetyl CoA restrains fatty acid oxidation by inhibiting CPT1a and is used in fatty acid and cholesterol synthesis[149]. Another metabolite with important role in immune regulation is NAD⁺.NAD⁺ is used as enzymatic and epigenetic cofactor including the sirtuin family of deacetylases. Many pathways reduce NAD⁺ to NADH including glycolysis and TCA cycle while NADH fuels the electron transfer chain (ETC) in oxphos, finally favouring NAD^{\dagger} accumulation. Thus, the ratio of NAD^{\dagger} to NADHreflects cellular energy and metabolic state[150]. LPS stimulation and switch to glycolysis leads to NAD⁺ depletion[151]. Increase of NAD⁺ activates sirtuin deacetylases, which have been shown to promote anti-inflammatory responses. For instance Sirt1 controls oxidative metabolism and anti-inflammatory functions. It directly deacetylates and inactivates NF-kB, AP1 and Hif1a while it also removes activating histone acetylation modifications from proinflammatory genes[135],[152].

B.4 Trained immunity and endotoxin tolerance

Although immune memory has been traditionally considered as an adaptive immune system characteristic, recent findings have challenged this notion[153]. Memory-like features are present in innate immune cells too, with trained immunity and endotoxin tolerance being examples of this phenomenon. Trained cells are characterized by increased responsiveness to the secondary stimulation. Stimuli capable of inducing training include β -glucan, BCG and ox-LDL[154],[155]. On the other hand endotoxin tolerance describes the reduced responsiveness to LPS (endotoxin) following a pretreatment with LPS[156]. Metabolic changes as well as epigenetic reprograming has been shown to underlie trained and endotoxin tolerant phenotypes [154]. Training with β -glucan increases the activating histone mark H3K4me3 at the promoters of proinflammatory cytokine genes such as TNF, IL6, IL18, providing a form of epigenetic memory that facilitates transcription factors binding and regulates response to secondary stimulation [157]. Also important gain occurs in $H_3K_{27}Ac$ both at the promoters and enhancers of proinflammatory genes as well as $H_3K_4me_1$, a definitive mark of active and primed enhancers[158],[132]. On the other hand, promoters of proinflammatory genes in endotoxin tolerant cells lack the activating H₃K₄me₃ histone mark[41]. They are also characterized by high levels of the repressive histone mark

 $H_3K_9me2/3$. Methyltransferase G9a induces $H_3K_9me_2$ at the promoter of TNF and IL1 β , which leads to the recruitment of the reader HP1 and increase in DNA methylation by the DNA methyltransferase Dnmt3a/b, thus establishing closed chromatin state in inflammation related genes[159],[160].



Figure 6: Trained immunity and endotoxin tolerance states[154]

B.4.1 Metabolic and epigenetic regulation of trained immunity

Persistent metabolic changes underscore trained immunity. Glucose, glutamine and cholesterol metabolism pathways have central role in the induction of innate immune memory[145]. Metabolic switch form oxidative phosphorylation to glycolysis in a mTOR/Hif1a dependent way has been shown to be crucial for induction of trained immunity[161]. The TCA cycle metabolite: Fumarate accumulated by glutaminolysis has been shown to mediate β -glucan induced trained immunity by inhibiting KDM5, a histone lysine demethylase responsible for $H_3K_4me_3$ demethylation from proinflammatory genes promoters. Interestingly enough fumarate treatment alone can partially recapitulate the trained immune phenotype[145]. Cholesterol synthesis pathway is another important mechanism for induction of trained immunity. The cholesterol synthesis pathway intermediate mevalonate promotes innate immune memory in an IFG1-R and mTOR dependent manner, an effect also reflected at the epigenetic level by increased $H_3K_4me_3$ at the promoters of IL6 and TNF[162]. Moreover the histone lysine methyltransferase (KMT) SET7 has been identified as epigenetic regulator of β-glucan induced trained immunity. Mechanistically SET7 writes the histone modification H₃K₄me₁ at the enhancer of the TCA cycle metabolic genes malate dehydrogenase 2 (MDH2) and succinate dehydrogenase (SDH), thus controlling epigenetic priming and persistent transcriptional activation of these key metabolic genes. Samuel T. Keating et al. at this paper also suggest OXPHOS dependency for lower dose β -glucan induced training[163]. In summary metabolic changes controlled by epigenetic reprogramming, which is induced by metabolic alterations[163]



Figure 7: Interplay between epigenetics and metabolism in trained immunity[154]

B.5 Akt/mTOR pathway

Emerging studies indicate an extensive crosstalk between immunity and metabolism. mTOR and Akt are key regulators of this interplay[164]. mTOR is a serine threonine kinase present is two compexes in mammals: mTORC1and mTORC2 defined by the subunits raptor and rictor respectively. mTORC1 is a master metabolic regulator which incorporates signals regarding nutrient availability, oxygen, energy, growth factors and couples them to anabolic processes such as protein, lipid and nucleotide synthesis[112]. Polarizing signals cause metabolic switches which underlie macrophage functional capacity to respond appropriately to diverse stimuli[165]. These signals target mTORC1, which in turn controls macrophage metabolic features and activation. The PI3K/AKT/mTOR pathway integrates signals from various receptors including insulin receptors, growth factor receptors, PRRs, cytokine receptors, adipokine and hormone receptors. Signal binding to PRRs, for example TLR4, cytokine, chemokine and Fc receptors activate the PI3K/Akt pathway[164]. Activated PI3K type 1 converts PIP2 to PIP3 and leads to the recruitment of Akt and mTORC2 on the plasma membrane.mTORC2 activates Akt by phosphorylation, which in turn inactivates the tuberous sclerosis complex(TSC1/2) resulting in mTORC1 activation. mTORC1 by feedback inhibition inactivates mTORC2 and Akt[164]. BMDMs deficient in TSC, the negative regulator of mTORC1 display elevated basal levels of mTORC1 and mount hyperresponsive phenotype after LPS stimulation as well as stimulation with TLR2, TLR3 ligands and LPS with IFN-y, while

induction of M2 markers is impaired[19]. Mechanistically attenuated Akt due to feedback inhibition by mTORC1 impairs M2 polarization[19]. mTORC1 targets include the translation initiation factor 4E binding protein (4EBP1), the ribosomal S6 Kinase, which in turn phosphorylates and activates the ribosomal protein s6 thus promoting protein synthesis[166]. The Akt family of protein kinases consists of 3 isoforms in mammals Akt1, Akt2 and Akt3[167]. Genetic models of specific isoform depletion reveals different roles in macrophage activation. Akt1 deletion leads to more pronounced M1 activation defined by increased IL-1 β production, higher NO synthase activity and improved bacterial clearance[168]. Mechanistically in the absence of Akt1, Mir155 a master regulator of inflammatory phenotype is upregulated while miRNA let7e, which represses TLR4 is downregulated. Also C/EBP β , a key transcription factor for M2 polarization is downregulated. On the contrary, Akt2 depleted macrophages exhibit enhanced M2 polarization and higher levels of the anti-inflammatory cytokine IL10 upon LPS stimulation. They are characterized by elevated levels of the M2 markers Arg1, Ym1 and Fizz1[168],[15]. Activated macrophages also undergo alterations in their metabolism. Akt and mTORC1 play a key role in metabolic reprogramming that supports immune function. Akt controls rapid glycolytic switch upon M1 activation at the posttranslational level by multiple mechanisms.mTORC1regulates HIF1a, the master regulator of glycolysis, which subsequently sustains long term glycolytic flux via transcriptional induction of glycolytic enzymes[139]. Also upregulation of glycolysis controlled by the mTOR/HIF1a pathway is a metabolic requirement for trained immunity[161]. Chemical inhibition of mTOR or genetic ablation HIF1a abrogates the enhanced cytokine production induced by β -glucan training[161]. Moreover mTORC1 promotes protein and lipid biosynthesis, needed for anabolic support of macrophage activation. It activates s6k and 4ebp1, thus enhancing translation[166]. It also activates srebp1 and srebp2 which orchestrate lipogenesis. Increased lipogenic activity during M1 polarization supports ER and Golgi expansion, needed for enhanced cytokine secretion and phagocytosis[111]. Additionally lipid biosynthetic pathways support the production of proinflammatory and anti-inflammatory mediators such as prostanglandins and lipoxins respectively[110].

B.6 E.R. stress

Endoplasmatic Reticulum (E.R.) is a large membranous organelle used for synthesis, folding, posttranslational modifications (for example N-glycosylation) and transport of proteins and lipids[169]. When the protein folding capacity of E.R. is exceeded misfolded and unfolded proteins accumulate resulting in E.R. stress. This activates the Unfolded Protein Response (UPR), responsible to alleviate E.R. stress and to restore proteostasis. Failure of UPR leads to apoptosis[170]. In order to relieve the cell from the accumulated misfolded load, the UPR response regulates the general attenuation of protein synthesis and upregulation of molecular chaperones in order to improve folding capacity. It also induces E.R. associated protein degradation (ERAD) to catabolize misfolded proteins through proteasomes and autophagy to support protein and cellular organelle degradation[171],[172]. The central regulators of the three distinct signaling UPR axes of include IRE1 α (inositol requiring enzyme 1 α), PERK (protein kinase RNA like ER kinase) and ATF6 (activating transcription factor 6)[170]. They are E.R. transmembrane proteins bound with the E.R. immunoglobulin

heavy chain chaperone GRP78 (BiP or Hspa5) in the absence of E.R. stress. Accumulated misfolded proteins have higher affinity for BiP, thus promoting BiP dissociation and activation of UPR response regulators[173]. E.R. stress has been shown to be both the cause and the consequence of inflammation. Disturbed proteostatic network and E.R. stress lead to chronic inflammation, while inflammatory disorders and autoimmunities exhibit increased E.R. stress[174]. Kevin Shenderov et al. show that E.R. stress mediates the production of IL- 1β in a caspase-8 and TRIF dependent pathway upon TLR4 stimulation[175]. The UPR effectors can directly activate the NF-kB and JNK-AP1 pathway by different mechanisms while E.R. stress also induces cytokine and chemokine production such as IL1, IL18, TNF, IL6 and MCP1[176],[177]. Additionally independent of UPR mediators E.R. stress promote inflammation by NLRP3 inflammasome activation in a ROS dependent manner while increase in cytoplasmic calcium ion levels and ROS leaked from E.R. also induce inflammatory response[178],[179]. Moreover extensive E.R. stress causes imbalance in M1-M2 polarization[180]. E.R. stress also acts in a non-cell autonomous manner as it promotes multivesicular bodies formation and exosome release, thus transmitting E.R. stress to the tissue microenvironment[181]. Tumor microenvironment (TME) is characterized by high levels of E.R. stress. Persistent E.R. stress transmitted to TME myeloid populations promotes tolerogenic immune activity[182]. Infiltrating macrophages are skewed towards M2 polarization, while infiltration of MDSCs (Myeloid Derived Suppressor Cells) increases, thus dampening antitumor immunity and promoting tumor progression and metastasis[182]. E.R. stress also characterizes several chronic inflammation and metabolic diseases such as obesity, type two diabetes, atherosclerosis, NAFLD and neurodegenerative disorders[183]. Although it is not clear whether E.R. stress is the cause or the consequence of these diseases, several studies connect E.R. stress with the inflammatory pathology, known to exacerbate chronic diseases[180]. In obesity metabolic E.R. stress in white adipose tissue drives ATMs (Adipose Tissue Macrophages) M1 polarization in an IRE1 α dependent way, which contributes to chronic inflammation of adipose tissue and decreases energy expenditure of WAT. Deletion of myeloid lineage IRE1 α rescues M1-M2 imbalance, insulin resistance and obesity induced by HFD[184]. Correspondingly atherosclerosis progression relies on macrophages. E.R. stress has been shown to be necessary and sufficient to induce M2 macrophage polarization, which contributes to increased foam cell formation after oxLDL exposure, characterized by enhanced cholesterol uptake, thus contributing to plaque progression[185]. Moreover E.R. stress induced chronic inflammation mediates fibrotic remodeling in IBD, while induction of E.R. stress in intestinal goblet cells causes development of spontaneous inflammation in colon[186].

C. Purpose of the study

Preliminary data of the lab have shown that histone demethylase PHF8 has a pivotal role in macrophage activation and potentially in the regulation of macrophage metabolism. As the induction of the immune response is closely correlated to metabolism the aim of this work was to find the mechanism in which PHF8 may be implicated in cell metabolism. To do so, we investigated the role of PHF8 in metabolism influenced pathways like mTORC signaling, ER-stress and endotoxin tolerance during LPS induced inflammation

D. Materials and methods

D.1 Mice

C57BL/6 w.t. and Akt2^{-/-} mice were kept in a pathogen free animal facility in University of Crete, School of Medicine in a temperature-controlled room and 12h light/dark cycle, with free access to standard laboratory chow and water. Adult mice of 8-10 weeks old were used in all experiments. In the Akt2^{-/-} compared to C56BL/6 experiment only female mice were used, while in the rest of the experiments male C57BL/6 mice were used. All animal procedures were in accordance with institutional guidelines and were approved by the University of Crete's Animal Care and Use Committee and the Veterinary Department of the Heraklion Prefecture (license number 150760/20-07-2017).

D.2 Aseptic peritonitis

Female C57BL/6 and Akt2^{-/-} mice were injected intraperitoneally with 1.5 ml thioglycolate/animal using a 27 gauge syringe in order to induce aseptic peritonitis and macrophage recruitment in the peritoneal cavity. After 4 days the animals were euthanized.

D.3 Peritoneal macrophages and BMDMs collection

Femoral bones from male C57BL/6 mice were removed and transferred to sterile petri dishes. Bone marrow was flushed out of femurs using complete medium and a 27-gauge syringe. Peritoneal macrophages flushed out of the peritoneal cavity by injecting DMEM using a 21 gauge syringe. Cells were transferred to cell culture plates and incubated overnight.

D.4 Cell culture

Raw264.7 cells and primary peritoneal macrophages were cultured in DMEM medium supplemented with 10% FBS, 1% pen/strep.Raw264.7 PHF8 overexpressing cells were cultured in DMEM medium supplemented with 10% FBS, 1% pen/strep with the addition of 2µg/ml blasticidin and 400µg/ml hygromycin. Concerning Raw264.7 K.O.PHF8 cells, they were also cultured in complete medium supplemented with 2µg/ml puromycin. Bone Marrow Derived Macrophages (BMDMs) were prepared by plating bone marrow in medium containing 70% DMEM with 10%FBS, 1%pen/strep and 30% LCCM for 10 days.

D.5 Endotoxin Tolerance protocol

BMDMs were treated with LPS (100ng/ml) for 24 hours, then washed twice with 1x PBS, rested for 2 hours and then restimulated with LPS (100 ng/ml) for 2 hours.

D.6 Cell culture treatments

Cells were treated with 100ng/ml LPS (L2630, Sigma), 2.5μ g/ml tunicamycin, α -KG (K1128, Sigma) diluted in 1x PBS in 0.1, 1 and 2 mM concentrations.

D.7 Mitotracker Green Assay

25*10^3 Raw264.7 cells per well were cultured and treated overnight. Then cell culture medium was removed and cells were washed using 1x PBS. 100µl of warm staining solution [1x PBS, 1% FBS, 35nM MitoTracker FM Green (M7514, Thermofisher)] was added to each well and the plate was incubated at 37°C for 30 min in cell culture incubator. After staining

was completed, staining medium was replaced with 1x PBS and fluorescence was measured using fluorescent microplate reader.

D.8 Elisa

Cytokine concentration of TNF and IL-6 in the supernatant was determined by ELISA using ELISA kits (R&D systems) according to the manufacturer's instructions.

D.9 Western Blot Analysis

Protein lysates from macrophages were resuspended in radioimmunoprecipitation assay buffer containing phosphatase and protease inhibitors (complete; Roche, Basel, Switzerland). Protein concentration of samples was determined using bicinchoninic acid kit. 15 ug of protein was electrophoresed on 15% or 8% denaturing polyacrylamide gel prior to wet transfer to 0.45-mm nitrocellulose membrane (Macherey-Nagel, Germany). Briefly, after blocking with 5% BSA in PBS-T (pH 7.4) for an hour at room temperature, the membranes were incubated with mouse polyclonal anti-mouse actin- β Ab (#4970, Cell Signaling), rabbit polyclonal anti-mouse LC3 Ab(#4108, Cell Signaling), rabbit polyclonal antimouse p-S6 Ab (S235/236, #2211, Cell Signaling)Ab, rabbit monoclonal anti-mouse p-4EBP1 Ab(T37/46, #2855, Cell Signaling), rabbit polyclonal anti-mouse IRE1a Ab(#3294, Cell Signaling), rabbit polyclonal anti-mouse PHF8 (#93801, Cell Signaling), mouse polyclonal antimouse Hsp90 (StressGen Biotechnologies), rabbit polyclonal anti-mouse GRP78 (#3177, Cell Signaling), rabbit polyclonal anti-mouse GRP94(#2104, Cell Signaling) at 4°C, overnight and then incubated with peroxidase-conjugated anti-mouse (#7076, Cell Signaling) or anti-rabbit (#50667388, Enzo life sciences) secondary Ab for 1 hour at room temperature followed by reaction with Chemiluminescent HRP Substrate (LumiSensor; GenScript). Image analysis was made using the Image J software.

D.10 RNA extraction and real time PCR

Total RNA was extracted from cells using the TRIzol reagent(Life technologies, Carlsbad, CA) and quantified at 260 and 280nm using spectrometry.500 ng of total RNA was used for cDNA synthesis(TAKARA, Shiga, Japan).The SYBR Green method was followed in the PCR reaction. Initiation was performed at 95°C for 3 min, denaturation at 95°C for 10 sec, annealing and extension at 60°C for 30 sec for 40 cycles. Melting curve was constructed continuously from 60°C to 95°C with 1% gain. Ribosomal protein S9 served as the housekeeping gene. Quantitative analysis of the fold change was performed using the Pfaffl method.

D.11 RNAseq

Libraries construction was made by the NEBNext[®] Ultra[™] II RNA Library Prep Kit for Illumina[®] (New England Biolabs, Ipswich, MA, USA). Sequencing was held at the platform NextSeq 2000 (Illumina Inc., San Diego, CA, USA) with the use of NextSeq 2000 P3 Reagents (300 Cycles). Raw paired-end reads were quality filtered using TrimGalore. Reads with low quality (q-score<30) and length below 20 bases as well as adapter sequences and non-identified nucleotides (Ns) were removed from the data. For the differential expression analysis, filtered reads were aligned against the *Mus musculus* reference transcriptome using Salmon (v.0.13.1). The reference transcriptome that was used was the *Mus musculus* GRCm39 transcriptome (Date modified: 2022-12-13) from the Ensembl database. The resulting abundance tables were imported into R (v.4.2.1) and differential expression

analysis was performed at the gene level with the DESeq2 (v.1.36.0) R package. Differentially expressed genes (DEGs) were considered those with adjusted p-value lower than 0.05 and absolute log2(fold-change) greater than 1. In the case of Raw264.7 PHF8 K.O. cells the number of differentially expressed genes with log2(fold-change)>1 was very low, so we considered genes with log2(fold-change)<1.After sequencing, 375,842,528 raw paired-end reads were produced in total (15,660,105 on average per sample), of which, after quality filtering, 372,444,846 (15,518,535 on average per sample) reads were retained. Analysis produced 178129 transcripts and 58401 genes. Overall after removal of low variability transcripts, 20867 transcripts and 8533 genes were retained at the data set. Each condition included three technical replicate apart from naïve state of Raw264.7 PHF8 K.O., which included two technical replicates, as one showed quite differentiated expression profile from the other two replicates of the same group based as shown in the respective PCOA based on the FPKM values. Samples were checked for RNA integrity by agarose gel electrophoresis. The analysis was made by the laboratory of food science and nutrition at the Institute of applied biosciences-center for research and technology Hellas.

D.12 Transfection

60-70% confluent BMDMs were transfected with 5 pmol of siPHF8 or siScramble using RNAiMAX transfection reagent (13778100, ThermoFisher) and incubated for 24-72 hours before collection.

D.13 Statistical analysis

All numeric data were evaluated for normality using the Shapiro-Wilk test. The numerical data that passed the normality test and the PCR results were analyzed using Student's t-test. P-values<0.05 were considered statistically significant. The software GraphPad Prism 8.0.2 was used for the statistical analysis.

E. Results

E.1 RNA sequencing in Raw264.7 cells overexpressing PHF8

In order to study how PHF8 regulates macrophage activation we performed RNA sequencing analysis in Raw264.7 PHF8 overexpressing and PHF8 knock out cell lines at the naïve state and after 6 hours of LPS stimulation. Differentially expressed genes were considered those with adjusted p-value lower than 0.05 and absolute log2(fold change)>1. In case of Raw264.7 K.O cells, the number of genes meeting the above criteria was very low, so genes with absolute log2(fold change) lower than 1 were also considered. In Raw264.7 PHF8 overexpressing cells we detected 259 differentially expressed genes consisting of 184 upregulated and 75 downregulated genes. After LPS stimulation in cells overexpressing PHF8 87 genes were found differentially expressed and of those 37 were upregulated and 50 were downregulated. Correspondingly in Raw264.7 PHF8 K.O. cells 46 genes were found differentially expressed, 25 were upregulated and 21 were downregulated at the naïve state, while after 6 hours of LPS stimulation 117 genes were differentially expressed, 57 upregulated and 60 downregulated. We analyzed three technical replicates in each condition, except from Raw264.7 PHF8 K.O. cells at the naïve state, which included 2 K.O. replicates. According to the PCo analysis plots based on gene expression overexpression or K.O. samples were clustered together and separately from their corresponding control samples in each condition, thus evidencing distinct gene expression profiles in these cell lines. In general PHF8 overexpressing samples yielded a greater number of differentially expressed genes compared to K.O. cells (figure 8, C, D, E). This could be explained by the fact that Raw264.7 K.O. cells were a mixed population consisted of complete, partial knock out or even wild type PHF8 expressing cells(figure 8, A). We performed Gene Ontology analysis in our data set using the DAVID bioinformatics tool, in order to identify the biological processes our genes were involved. In general we observed enrichment in immune response related genes as well as metabolic genes. These results will be addressed later in detail.







<u>Figure 8:</u> RNA sequencing in Raw264.7 PHF8 overexpressing cells and Raw264.7 PHF8 K.O. cells at the naïve state and after LPS stimulation A)confocal microscopy depiction of PHF8 levels in Raw264.7 PHF8 overexpressing cells and Raw264.7 PHF8 K.O. cells B)Pco Analysis of Raw264.7 PHF8 overexpressing and K.O. cells at the naïve state and after LPS stimulation C)Heatmap of gene expression in Raw264.7 PHF8 overexpressing and K.O. cells at the naïve state and after LPS stimulation D)Pco Analysis and volcano plot of Raw264.7 PHF8 K.O. cells

E.2 PHF8 overexpression attenuates the expression of LPS induced immune related genes but positively regulates IFN- β pathway genes

Gene Ontology analysis in our data set revealed differences in immune response related genes. After 6 hours of LPS stimulation PHF8 overexpressing cells exhibit reduced expression of genes involved in inflammatory response (figure 9, B). This cluster of genes include members involved in cytokine production such as TNF and IL6 production pathways and complement activation. IL-1 α and IL-1 β also show reduced expression as well as MiR155, a well -studied central regulator of inflammatory response. In agreement with these data RNA sequencing results in PHF8 knock out cells after 6 hours of LPS stimulation we detected upregulated proinflammatory genes such as IL6ra and NOS2 (figure 11, E). Interestingly at the naïve state PHF8 appears to positively regulate genes related to IFN- β response, including many IFN induced genes and Stat1(figure 9, A).



<u>Figure 9:</u> PHF8 regulates the expression of immune related genes. A)Genes upregulated at the naïve state in Raw264.7 PHF8 overexpressing cells. B)Genes downregulated after LPS stimulation inRaw264.7 PHF8 overexpressing cells

E.3 PHF8 regulates metabolic genes

Metabolism has a central role in the modulation of immune response. Different metabolic different macrophage pathways characterize functional phenotypes[88]. PHF8 overexpressing cells display different metabolic features. Gene Ontology analysis revealed differences in metabolic genes in Raw264.7 overexpressing (O/E) cells at the naïve state. In general genes involved in biosynthetic processes such as peptide and lipid biosynthesis were downregulated in Raw264.7 O/E cells. FasN, a master regulator of lipid synthesis activated downstream of mTORC1 was found downregulated in our list, as well as protein synthesis regulators such as ribosomal protein s6 kinase (Rsp6kb2) and mitochondrial ribosomal proteins (Mrps6, Mrpl17) (figure 10, A). To further study lipid metabolism in Raw264.7 O/E cells by RT-PCR we measured the RNA levels of CPT1a and Srebf1, two central regulators of fatty acid oxidation and fatty acid synthesis correspondingly. Although both were upregulated CPT1a has a greater and more significant difference, which in accordance with the RNA sequencing results suggests these cells possibly have higher rates of fatty acid oxidation (figure 10, B). Furthermore many transporters were found differentially expressed in our data set. Amino acid transporters, such as slc6a9 catalyzing glycine transport, slc1a4, which transfers neutral amino acids including alanine, threonine, cysteine, serine and slc3a2 were upregulated, while the glucose transporters glut1 and glut5 were downregulated at the naïve state in cells overexpressing PHF8 (figure 10, A).



Biological Processes	p- value
Regulation of cell macromolecule biosynthetic process	7.3E-3
Lipid biosynthetic process	6.7E-3
Peptide biosynthetic process	5.9E-2

Distant Dus

م برامير



<u>Figure 10:</u> PHF8 controls metabolic genes. A)Downregulated metabolic genes at the naïve state in Raw264.7 PHF8 overexpressing cells .B) relative gene expression of srebf1 and cpt1a, hk3 and pfkp in Raw264.7 PHF8 O/E cells analyzed by q-PCR

E.4 PHF8 positively regulates mTORC1 at the naïve state but impairs its activation after LPS stimulation

mTORC1 plays a pivotal role in macrophage activation. Polarizing signals impinge on mTORC1, which in turn regulates metabolic pathways and macrophage activation[164]. It has been reported that PHF8 regulates mTORC1 activity in neuronal cells[91]. To further investigate the role of PHF8 in the regulation of mTORC1 in innate immune response we analyzed by Western blot the protein levels of mTORC1 downstream targets p-S6 and p-4EBP1 in cells overexpressing PHF8 and K.O. cells at the naïve state and after LPS stimulation. At the naïve state in cells overexpressing PHF8 p-S6 and p-4EBP1 are upregulated. The opposite is observed in knock out cells (figure 11, A). Nonetheless Raw264.7 PHF8 overexpressing cells exhibit impaired mTORC1 activation after LPS stimulation (figure 11, B). This result is compatible with the hyporesponsive phenotype observed in cells overexpressing PHF8. M1 polarizing signals cause metabolic switch to glycolysis controlled by Hif1a, master regulator of glycolysis, which is activated by mTORC1. By q-PCR we measured the RNA levels of Hif1a and both pfkp and hk3, two key glycolytic genes at the naïve state and after 6, 16 and 24 hours of LPS stimulation. At the naïve state hk3, pfkp were found upregulated in PHF8 overexpressing cells compared to their controls, compatible with the enhanced mTORC1 activity at the basal state, while after LPS stimulation there is no statistically significant differences between control RAW264.7 and O/E PHF8 RAW264.7 (figure 11, C). As expected p-S6 and p-4EBP1 expression in control cells is induced after LPS stimulation, but PHF8 overexpressing cells show no further induction (figure 11, B). In a similar way hk3 and pfkp are induced in control cells after LPS stimulation, a response not observed in Raw264.7 PHF8 overexpressing cells (figure 11, D). Moreover RAW264.7 PHF8 overexpressing cells display increased Hif1a expression at all time points. These observations suggest that PHF8 overexpressing cells have enhanced glycolysis, but fail to further increase it in response to LPS stimulation. The lack of glycolytic program inducibility in the presence of LPS stimulus may account for the reduced responsiveness in PHF8 overexpressing cells. Consistent with these findings Gene Ontology analysis in PHF8 K.O. cells after 6 hours of LPS stimulation revealed upregulated genes involved in carbohydrate and glucose metabolism. More specifically genes involved in Hif1a pathway and glycolysis had increased expression in PHF8 K.O. cells. , and may associate with their pronounced proinflammatory phenotype(figure 11, E).

cntrl ove

PHF8 ove

control ove PHF8 ove

•









pfkp



cntrl ove

PHF8 ove



<u>Figure 11</u>: PHF8 positively regulates mTORC1 at the naïve state but impairs its activation after LPS stimulation. A) Protein levels of mTORC1 targets at the naïve state in Raw264.7 O/E cells and Raw264.7 K.O. cells. B) Protein levels of mTORC1 targets after LPS stimulation in Raw264.7 O/E cells C)hk3, pfkp and Hif1a relative expression analyzed by q-PCR D) hk3 and pfkp relative expression . Each genotype expression is normalized to their basal expression E)Heatmap of upregulated genes in PHF8 K.O. cells after 6 hours of LPS stimulation.

E.5 PHF8 positively regulates ER stress related genes

Gene Ontology analysis in our RNA sequencing data set from cells overexpressing PHF8 using the David bioinformatics tool revealed enrichment with genes involved in biological processes of Endoplasmatic Reticulum stress and Unfolded Protein Response with Ddit3, the gene that encodes CHOP, a C/EBP family of transcription factors member mainly induced under ER stress conditions being the highest expressed gene in our data set (figure 12, A). Also chaperones expression was enhanced, Hsp40 family members, HSP90b1(or GRP94) and Hspa5 gene, which encodes for BiP or GRP78, an ER located chaperone which upon E.R. stress dissociates from UPR regulators allowing the initiation of their signaling cascades. Additionally members of the ERAD (E.R. associated degradation) pathway were found to be upregulated at the naïve state. SQSTM1, the gene encoding for p62 protein was also detected to be upregulated in our data set. p62 has a pivotal role in the two main protein degradation pathways, in the ubiquitin proteasome system and autophagy. To further validate our results regarding the positive regulation of E.R. stress related genes we analyzed by Western blot the protein levels of UPR related genes such as IRE1 α , GRP78, GRP94 and HSP90 in RAW264.7 PHF8 overexpressing cell line. In accordance with the sequencing results IRE1 α and GRP78 were found to be upregulated compared to controls, while no differences were observed at the protein levels of HSP90 and GRP94 (figure 12, B). These results imply that PHF8 positively regulates ER stress related genes and may epigenetically control the UPR response. To further test this hypothesis we knocked down PHF8 in mouse BMDMs and treated them with tunicamycin, an E.R. stress inducer, for 6 hours. Despite our hypothesis PHF8 knocked down BMDMs showed no differences in IRE1 α , GRP78, GRP94 and HSP90 protein levels (figure 12, C).



Biological Processes	p- value
Response to ER stress	9.1E-16
Response to UPR	2.5E-8
ER UPR	4.3E-7
Negative regulation of DNA binding	9.6E-7
Ub dependent ERAD pathway	1.6E-6
Retrograde protein transport, ER to cytosol	4.8E-6



<u>Figure 12:</u> PHF8 positively regulates E.R. stress related genes. A) Genes upregulated at the naïve state of Raw264.7 O/E cells. B) Protein levels of E.R. stress related genes in Raw264.7 PHF8 O/E cells analyzed by Western Blot C)Protein levels of E.R. stress related genes after treatment with tunicamycin in control and PHF8 knock down BMDMs

E.6 Autophagy is upregulated in RAW264.7 PHF8 overexpressing cells

The two major functions of the UPR response include the upregulation of chaperones in order to improve protein folding capacity and the activation of degradation pathways to discard the accumulated misfolded proteins. As ER stress related genes were upregulated in cells overexpressing PHF8 we made the hypothesis that autophagy pathways could also be positively regulated. So we used Western blot analysis to measure the LC3-II/LC3-I protein ration in RAW264.7 PHF8 O/E cells both at the naïve state and at the LPS stimulated state. As expected LC3-II/LC3-I protein ration was higher in RAW264.7 PHF8 O/E cells both at the naïve state and after LPS stimulation (figure 13, A). In addition we performed RT-PCR in these cells to measure the mRNA levels of pink1 and parkin, two key proteins involved in mitophagy, which revealed significant upregulation of these genes in PHF8 overexpressing cells (figure 13, B). Consistent with this fact, mitochondrial mass was measured using the Mitotracker stain and green fluorescence intensity was quantified and found decreased in Raw264.7 PHF8 overexpressing cells (figure 13, C). Supporting these data sqstm1, a selective autophagy receptor was found to be upregulated in our RNA seq data set at the naïve state as previously mentioned, implying increased autophagy (figure 13, A).



<u>Figure 13:</u> Autophagy is upregulated in Raw264.7 PHF8 O/E cells. A) LC3 protein levels in Raw264.7 PHF8 O/E cells B) parkin and pink 1 relative expression in Raw264.7 O/E cells analyzed by q-PCR C)Mitochondrial load in cntrl and Raw264.7 PHF8 overexpressing cells measured by fluorescence of mitotracher green

E.7 PHF8 negatively regulates macrophage classic activation in mouse BMDMs

In our cell lines we have already described that PHF8 negatively relates to the proinflammatory classic macrophage activation phenotype and causes a hyporesponsive phenotype in cells overexpressing PHF8 upon LPS stimulation, while cells knocked out for PHF8 display increased cytokine production after LPS stimulation. In order to further investigate the role of PHF8 in immune response in mouse primary cells we knocked down PHF8 by using specific siRNA in mouse BMDMs and measured the cytokine levels of IL6 and TNF after 24 hours of LPS stimulation. Both IL6 and TNF levels were increased in K.D. BMDMs after 24 hours of LPS stimulation (figure 14, B). Also arginase 1, a marker of M2 alternative macrophage polarization was less induced in K.D. BMDMs (figure 14, C). All these findings are consistent with the induction of a more pronounced proinflammatory phenotype in the absence of PHF8 which suggests that PHF8 plays a role in later stages of macrophage activation and contributes to the resolution of inflammation. Additionally epigenetic regulators have been shown to underlie innate immune memory phenotypes. In order to investigate whether PHF8 epigenetically regulates the transition to endotoxin tolerance in control and knocked down for PHF8 BMDMs we did a 24 hour stimulation with LPS followed by 2 hours resting and a secondary 2 hour stimulus. We measured by Elisa TNF and IL6 levels in the supernatants. Although BMDMs silenced for PHF8 became tolerant characterized by lower TNF production after the 24 hour LPS pretreatment compared to the sole 2 hour stimulus, they had statistically significant higher levels of TNF compared to their siScramble counterparts (figure 14, B). Nevertheless IL-1 β mRNA levels were decreased at all timepoints of LPS stimulation (2, 24) and at the tolerant state in knocked down for PHF8 BMDMs (figure 14, C). Interestingly PHF8 mRNA expression was upregulated at the tolerant state, suggesting that PHF8 plays a role in endotoxin tolerance (figure 14, A).

Another interesting finding was that BMDMs knocked down for PHF8 had increased mTORC1 activity as evidenced by increased protein levels of p-4EBP1 and p-S6 compared to controls. This may in part explain the hyperresponsive phenotype of BMDMs knocked down for PHF8 (figure 14, D).











39



<u>Figure 14:</u> PHF8 negatively regulates proinflammatory cytokine expression A)PHF8 relative expression in cntrl and PHF8 knock down BMDMs B)IL-6 and TNF supernatant levels in cntrl and PHF8 knock down BMDMs analyzed by Elisa C)IL-1 β and arginase 1 relative expression analyzed by q-PCR D) P-4EBP1 and P-S6 protein levels after 2 and 24+2 hours of LPS stimulation in cntrl and PHF8 knock down BMDMs analyzed by Western Blot

E.8 α -KG induces PHF8

Metabolites play a crucial role in metabolic rewiring process and have been shown to underscore metabolic and functional adaptations in macrophages[131]. PHF8 is an α -Ketoglutarate dependent demethylase, which has inhibitory role in proinflammatory gene expression. So we wanted to assess whether α -KG could induce PHF8, which consequently would lead to an immunosuppressive phenotype. We incubated Raw264.7 cells with α -KG of various concentrations and duration and assessed PHF8 protein levels by Western Blot. Indeed PHF8 levels were increased after 16 and 20 hours of α -KG incubation(figure 15).



<u>Figure 15:</u> α -KG induces PHF8 expression in Raw264.7 cells A) Protein levels of PHF8 after treatment with α -KG in various concentrations and different durations analyzed by Western blot.

E.9 PHF8 does not epigenetically underlie the hyporesponsive phenotype observed in AKT2^{-/-}mice

In previous published work of the lab it has been described that AKT2^{-/-} mice display hyporesponsiveness because of insulin resistance[187]. AKT2^{-/-} macrophages, as well as other insulin resistance models have increased basal mTORC1 activity and glycolysis, responsible for the enhanced M2 markers production[187]. Our hypothesis was that in AKT2^{-/-}mice PHF8 is upregulated and controls epigenetically the hyporesponsive phenotype. Experimental analysis of PHF8 protein and RNA levels by Western blot and RT-PCR respectively in peritoneal macrophages from B6 and AKT2^{-/-} mice after 6 and 24 hours of LPS stimulation showed lower levels of PHF8 in AKT2^{-/-} mice opposing our original hypothesis. In B6 mice PHF8 increased after 24 hours of LPS stimulation, while it did not in AKT2^{-/-} mice (figure 16).



<u>Figure 16:</u> PHF8 does not epigenetically underlie the hyporesponsive phenotype observed in AKT2^{-/-} mice A)protein levels of PHF8 in C57BL/6 and AKT2^{-/-} mice after 6 and 24 hours of LPS stimulation B) PHF8 relative expression in C57BL/6 and AKT2^{-/-} mice after 6 and 24 hours of LPS stimulation analyzed by q-PCR

F. Discussion

Epigenetic marks are dynamically regulated by polarizing signals, which impinge on transcriptional and epigenetic regulators to modulate macrophage activation[134]. In this study, we focused on the role of PHF8, a jumonji C containing domain histone lysine demethylase, in modulating the immune response and the mechanisms by which PHF8 regulates macrophage response. PHF8 appears to have a negative role in classic macrophage activation as evidenced by the enhanced cytokine expression in BMDMs knocked down for PHF8 after 6 and 24 hours of LPS stimulation. Also RAW264.7 PHF8 overexpressing and knock out cell lines display reduced and enhanced cytokine production respectively after LPS challenge. Enhanced TNF production is also observed at the endotoxin tolerance state in PHF8 knock down BMDMs, while Arginase 1, an M2 polarization marker has lower induction after 24 hours of LPS stimulation in these cells. These data suggest that PHF8 plays a role in late LPS response and in M2 polarization. Nevertheless the exact role of PHF8 in immune response remains to be defined. For instance it is not clear whether PHF8 mediates the transition to the M2 resolving phenotype or whether PHF8 is an epigenetic regulator of endotoxin tolerance, a phenotype characterized by altered epigenetic profile regarding proinflammatory mediators. Enhanced PHF8 expression in the tolerant state is in agreement with this hypothesis.

Cellular metabolism underlies functional macrophage activation. RNA sequencing data already showed that PHF8 negatively regulates the expression of genes involved in peptide and lipid biosynthesis pathways. Biosynthetic metabolism is predominantly induced upon classic macrophage activation, while alternatively activated or inflammatory resolving macrophages rely mostly on oxidative metabolism[95]. This is in accordance with our proposing role for PHF8 in immune response. A suggested mechanism by which PHF8 could control alternative macrophage polarization or transition to an anti-inflammatory phenotype is by epigenetically regulating genes of metabolic pathways that functionally support this activation state. PHF8 has primarily activating role in transcription by demethylating the repressive marks H3K9m2 and H3K9me3. So in case of downregulated genes it could mediate the activation of suppressive genes. Whether PHF8 regulatory effect is direct or indirect requires further investigation. For example a ChIP-seq experiment for PHF8 would help delineate this question.

A protein complex known to incorporate different signals and to impact metabolic rewiring is mTORC1. mTORC1 regulates protein and lipid biosynthesis and activates Hif1a, which in turn induces glycolytic switch, a primary metabolic pathway in proinflammatory macrophages. Regulation of mTORC1 activity could comprise a mechanism by which PHF8 regulates immune response. Chen, X., et al. in neuronal cells have already showed that PHF8 can impact on mTORC1 activity by regulating the expression of the mTOR activator Rps6ka1. Mechanistically PHF8 inhibits the expression of Rps6ka1by H₄K₂₀me₁ demethylation from the promoter of Rps6ka1[91]. In our experiments knock down of PHF8 in BMDMs resulted in enhanced mTORC1 activity especially at the tolerant state, observation compatible with the increase cytokine production in K.D. PHF8 BMDMs. Nonetheless mTORC1 activity is also increased at the naïve state of PHF8 overexpressing cells, along with genes involved in the glycolytic program and Hif1a, but shows reduced activation after LPS stimulation. Correspondingly Hk3 and pfkp exhibit no further induction in contrast with control cells, in which as expected they are induced after LPS stimulation. This lack of mTORC1 activation and glycolytic genes further increase may at least in part account for the reduced responsiveness of Raw264.7 PHF8 overexpressing cells. Consistent with this notion Raw264.7 PHF8 K.O. cells display elevated expression of glycolysis and Hif1a pathway at the LPS stimulated state suggesting that PHF8 has a regulatory role in switch to glycolysis.

Another finding is that PHF8 is a positive regulator of E.R. stress related genes. It causes the expression of many genes associated with the unfolded protein response, as well as the ER associated degradation pathway. Also by Western Blot we measured elevated expression of the autophagy marker LC3-II and higher mRNA levels of two mitophagy markers, pink 1 and parkin. Consequently it is possible that regulation of response to E.R. stress is a mechanism by which PHF8 mediates its effect in immune response. Several studies highlight the E.R. stress role in immune response. E.R. stress promotes inflammation, while prolonged E.R. stress associates with imbalance in M1 and M2 polarization and has been implicated in the pathophysiology of many inflammatory and autoimmune diseases. Also a study in C. elegans highlights the requirement of jmjd1.2, the PHF8 homolog in C. elegans for the longevity effect of mitochondrial unfolded protein response[188]. Yet tunicamycin treatment in control and knock down for PHF8 BMDMs didn't show any differences regarding the E.R. stress genes induction. In several settings prolonged E.R. stress has been shown to promote immunosuppression, as in cancer, atherosclerosis, aging, Altzheimer's and pulmonary fibrosis[189]. In all these cases PHF8 could be an epigenetic positive modulator of the E.R. stress response underlying the tolerogenic phenotype of immune cells. How PHF8 mediated control of the unfolded protein response relates with immune response requires further investigation.

Bibliographically it is known that α -KG can induce tolerance supported by its function as cofactor of immunomodulatory epigenetic enzymes[120]. Another interesting observation was that PHF8 could be induced by α -KG. α -KG is a cofactor of the jmjd family of demethylases including PHF8. Mechanistically PHF8 activation by α -KG could at least partially provide a mechanistic insight of α -KG effect in macrophage phenotype. Additionally metabolite use as a means of metabolic rewiring towards tolerance would be a desirable effect in cases of inflammatory disorders and autoimmunities, where loss of tolerance is observed.

G. Future Perspectives

In our experiments we have found that PHF8 negatively regulates proinflammatory cytokine production. In order to better understand the role of PHF8 in immune response we could employ IL4 stimulation in control and PHF8 knock down BMDMs to examine the expression of M2 markers and assess the role of PHF8 in M2 transition. Additionally we have observed that α -KG, a metabolite known to regulate tolerance, induces PHF8 production. We could further assess the role of PHF8 as an epigenetic mediator of $\alpha\text{-}KG$ dependent immunosuppressive phenotype. An approach to this question would be to pretreat control and knocked down for PHF8 BMDMs with α -KG followed by LPS or IL4 stimulation. We would expect higher levels of proinflammatory cytokines and lower of anti-inflammatory mediators to support this hypothesis. Moreover we would like to further investigate the connection between E.R. stress and immune function and whether E.R. stress is a mechanism through which PHF8 exerts its immunomodulatory role. We have observed lower levels of CHOP at the endotoxin tolerance state of PHF8 knock down BMDMs, which are additionally characterized by higher cytokine expression compared to controls. E.R. stress could be a mechanism regulated by PHF8 to promote endotoxin tolerance. Further assessment of E.R. stress related genes at the endotoxin tolerance state is needed. Additionally endotoxin tolerance protocol simultaneously with E.R. stress induction in PHF8 knock down BMDMs would help address this guestion. Finally PHF8^{-/-} mice are available. As a proof of concept we could consider their response to sepsis model compared with C57BL/6 mice, in which PHF8 induction could also be addressed. We would expect worse survival, while deletion of PHF8 may exhibit protective effect in pathogen infection models.

H. References

- 1. Marshall, J.S., et al., *An introduction to immunology and immunopathology*. Allergy Asthma Clin Immunol, 2018. **14**(Suppl 2): p. 49.
- 2. Epelman, S., K.J. Lavine, and G.J. Randolph, *Origin and functions of tissue macrophages*. Immunity, 2014. **41**(1): p. 21-35.
- 3. Murray, P.J. and T.A. Wynn, *Protective and pathogenic functions of macrophage subsets*. Nat Rev Immunol, 2011. **11**(11): p. 723-37.
- 4. Medzhitov, R., *Toll-like receptors and innate immunity*. Nat Rev Immunol, 2001. **1**(2): p. 135-45.
- 5. Brown, G.D., J.A. Willment, and L. Whitehead, *C-type lectins in immunity and homeostasis.* Nat Rev Immunol, 2018. **18**(6): p. 374-389.
- 6. Cao, X., *Self-regulation and cross-regulation of pattern-recognition receptor signalling in health and disease*. Nat Rev Immunol, 2016. **16**(1): p. 35-50.
- 7. Varol, C., A. Mildner, and S. Jung, *Macrophages: development and tissue specialization*. Annu Rev Immunol, 2015. **33**: p. 643-75.
- 8. Mills, C.D., et al., *M-1/M-2 macrophages and the Th1/Th2 paradigm*. J Immunol, 2000. **164**(12): p. 6166-73.
- 9. Martinez, F.O., et al., *Macrophage activation and polarization*. Front Biosci, 2008. **13**: p. 453-61.
- 10. Martinez, F.O., L. Helming, and S. Gordon, *Alternative activation of macrophages: an immunologic functional perspective*. Annu Rev Immunol, 2009. **27**: p. 451-83.
- 11. Li, P., et al., Proteomic characterization of four subtypes of M2 macrophages derived from human THP-1 cells. J Zhejiang Univ Sci B, 2022. 23(5): p. 407-422.
- 12. Wang, N., H. Liang, and K. Zen, *Molecular mechanisms that influence the macrophage m1-m2 polarization balance*. Front Immunol, 2014. **5**: p. 614.
- 13. Sica, A. and A. Mantovani, *Macrophage plasticity and polarization: in vivo veritas.* J Clin Invest, 2012. **122**(3): p. 787-95.
- 14. Verreck, F.A., et al., *Human IL-23-producing type 1 macrophages promote but IL-10-producing type 2 macrophages subvert immunity to (myco)bacteria.* Proc Natl Acad Sci U S A, 2004. **101**(13): p. 4560-5.
- 15. Gordon, S. and F.O. Martinez, *Alternative activation of macrophages: mechanism and functions*. Immunity, 2010. **32**(5): p. 593-604.
- 16. Raes, G., et al., Arginase-1 and Ym1 are markers for murine, but not human, alternatively activated myeloid cells. J Immunol, 2005. **174**(11): p. 6561; author reply 6561-2.
- 17. Mosser, D.M., *The many faces of macrophage activation*. J Leukoc Biol, 2003. **73**(2): p. 209-12.
- 18. Dranoff, G., *Cytokines in cancer pathogenesis and cancer therapy*. Nat Rev Cancer, 2004. **4**(1): p. 11-22.
- 19. Lawrence, T. and G. Natoli, *Transcriptional regulation of macrophage polarization: enabling diversity with identity.* Nat Rev Immunol, 2011. **11**(11): p. 750-61.
- 20. Rothschild, D.E., et al., *Modulating inflammation through the negative regulation of NF-κB signaling*. J Leukoc Biol, 2018.
- 21. Li, Q. and I.M. Verma, *NF-kappaB regulation in the immune system*. Nat Rev Immunol, 2002. **2**(10): p. 725-34.

- 22. Platanitis, E. and T. Decker, *Regulatory Networks Involving STATs, IRFs, and NFκB in Inflammation.* Front Immunol, 2018. **9**: p. 2542.
- 23. Krausgruber, T., et al., *IRF5 promotes inflammatory macrophage polarization and TH1-TH17 responses*. Nat Immunol, 2011. **12**(3): p. 231-8.
- 24. Alexander, W.S. and D.J. Hilton, *The role of suppressors of cytokine signaling* (SOCS) proteins in regulation of the immune response. Annu Rev Immunol, 2004. **22**: p. 503-29.
- 25. Kobayashi, K., et al., *IRAK-M is a negative regulator of Toll-like receptor signaling*. Cell, 2002. **110**(2): p. 191-202.
- 26. Liew, F.Y., et al., *Negative regulation of toll-like receptor-mediated immune responses*. Nat Rev Immunol, 2005. **5**(6): p. 446-58.
- 27. Rauh, M.J., et al., *SHIP represses the generation of alternatively activated macrophages.* Immunity, 2005. **23**(4): p. 361-74.
- 28. Lang, R., et al., *Shaping gene expression in activated and resting primary macrophages by IL-10.* J Immunol, 2002. **169**(5): p. 2253-63.
- 29. Liao, X., et al., *Krüppel-like factor 4 regulates macrophage polarization*. J Clin Invest, 2011. **121**(7): p. 2736-49.
- 30. Bouhlel, M.A., et al., *PPARgamma activation primes human monocytes into alternative M2 macrophages with anti-inflammatory properties.* Cell Metab, 2007. **6**(2): p. 137-43.
- 31. Eguchi, J., et al., *Transcriptional control of adipose lipid handling by IRF4*. Cell Metab, 2011. **13**(3): p. 249-59.
- 32. Czimmerer, Z., et al., *The Transcription Factor STAT6 Mediates Direct Repression of Inflammatory Enhancers and Limits Activation of Alternatively Polarized Macrophages.* Immunity, 2018. **48**(1): p. 75-90.e6.
- 33. O'Farrell, A.M., et al., *IL-10 inhibits macrophage activation and proliferation by distinct signaling mechanisms: evidence for Stat3-dependent and independent pathways.* Embo j, 1998. **17**(4): p. 1006-18.
- 34. Yao, Y., X.H. Xu, and L. Jin, *Macrophage Polarization in Physiological and Pathological Pregnancy*. Front Immunol, 2019. **10**: p. 792.
- 35. Zhao, M., et al., *Epigenetic dynamics in immunity and autoimmunity*. Int J Biochem Cell Biol, 2015. **67**: p. 65-74.
- 36. Álvarez-Errico, D., et al., *Epigenetic control of myeloid cell differentiation, identity and function.* Nat Rev Immunol, 2015. **15**(1): p. 7-17.
- 37. Zhang, Q. and X. Cao, *Epigenetic regulation of the innate immune response to infection*. Nat Rev Immunol, 2019. **19**(7): p. 417-432.
- 38. Allis, C.D. and T. Jenuwein, *The molecular hallmarks of epigenetic control*. Nat Rev Genet, 2016. **17**(8): p. 487-500.
- 39. Kouzarides, T., *Chromatin modifications and their function*. Cell, 2007. **128**(4): p. 693-705.
- 40. Heintzman, N.D., et al., *Distinct and predictive chromatin signatures of transcriptional promoters and enhancers in the human genome.* Nat Genet, 2007. **39**(3): p. 311-8.
- 41. Foster, S.L., D.C. Hargreaves, and R. Medzhitov, *Gene-specific control of inflammation by TLR-induced chromatin modifications*. Nature, 2007. **447**(7147): p. 972-8.
- 42. Zaret, K.S. and J.S. Carroll, *Pioneer transcription factors: establishing competence for gene expression*. Genes Dev, 2011. **25**(21): p. 2227-41.

- 43. Heinz, S., et al., Simple combinations of lineage-determining transcription factors prime cis-regulatory elements required for macrophage and B cell identities. Mol Cell, 2010. **38**(4): p. 576-89.
- 44. Heinz, S., et al., *Effect of natural genetic variation on enhancer selection and function*. Nature, 2013. **503**(7477): p. 487-92.
- 45. Creyghton, M.P., et al., *Histone H3K27ac separates active from poised enhancers and predicts developmental state.* Proc Natl Acad Sci U S A, 2010. **107**(50): p. 21931-6.
- 46. Smale, S.T., *Transcriptional regulation in the innate immune system*. Curr Opin Immunol, 2012. **24**(1): p. 51-7.
- 47. Chen, S., et al., *Epigenetic regulation of macrophages: from homeostasis maintenance to host defense*. Cell Mol Immunol, 2020. **17**(1): p. 36-49.
- 48. Turner, B.M., *Histone acetylation and an epigenetic code*. Bioessays, 2000. **22**(9): p. 836-45.
- 49. Nicodeme, E., et al., *Suppression of inflammation by a synthetic histone mimic*. Nature, 2010. **468**(7327): p. 1119-23.
- 50. Hargreaves, D.C., T. Horng, and R. Medzhitov, *Control of inducible gene expression by signal-dependent transcriptional elongation*. Cell, 2009. **138**(1): p. 129-45.
- 51. Ramirez-Carrozzi, V.R., et al., *A unifying model for the selective regulation of inducible transcription by CpG islands and nucleosome remodeling.* Cell, 2009. **138**(1): p. 114-28.
- 52. Kaikkonen, M.U., et al., *Remodeling of the enhancer landscape during macrophage activation is coupled to enhancer transcription*. Mol Cell, 2013. **51**(3): p. 310-25.
- 53. Yan, Q., et al., *Nuclear factor-κB binding motifs specify Toll-like receptorinduced gene repression through an inducible repressosome.* Proc Natl Acad Sci U S A, 2012. **109**(35): p. 14140-5.
- 54. Barish, G.D., et al., *Bcl-6 and NF-kappaB cistromes mediate opposing regulation of the innate immune response.* Genes Dev, 2010. **24**(24): p. 2760-5.
- 55. Ashburner, B.P., S.D. Westerheide, and A.S. Baldwin, Jr., *The p65 (RelA)* subunit of NF-kappaB interacts with the histone deacetylase (HDAC) corepressors HDAC1 and HDAC2 to negatively regulate gene expression. Mol Cell Biol, 2001. **21**(20): p. 7065-77.
- 56. Zhong, H., et al., *The phosphorylation status of nuclear NF-kappa B determines its association with CBP/p300 or HDAC-1*. Mol Cell, 2002. **9**(3): p. 625-36.
- 57. Chen, X., et al., Requirement for the histone deacetylase Hdac3 for the inflammatory gene expression program in macrophages. Proc Natl Acad Sci U S A, 2012. **109**(42): p. E2865-74.
- 58. Mullican, S.E., et al., *Histone deacetylase 3 is an epigenomic brake in macrophage alternative activation*. Genes Dev, 2011. **25**(23): p. 2480-8.
- 59. Shakespear, M.R., et al., *Histone deacetylases as regulators of inflammation and immunity*. Trends Immunol, 2011. **32**(7): p. 335-43.
- 60. Bode, K.A., et al., *Histone deacetylase inhibitors decrease Toll-like receptormediated activation of proinflammatory gene expression by impairing transcription factor recruitment.* Immunology, 2007. **122**(4): p. 596-606.
- 61. Dillon, S.C., et al., *The SET-domain protein superfamily: protein lysine methyltransferases.* Genome Biol, 2005. **6**(8): p. 227.

- 62. Song, M., et al., *MKL1 is an epigenetic mediator of TNF-\alpha-induced proinflammatory transcription in macrophages by interacting with ASH2.* FEBS Lett, 2017. **591**(6): p. 934-945.
- 63. Yu, L., et al., *MKL1 defines the H3K4Me3 landscape for NF-κB dependent inflammatory response*. Sci Rep, 2017. **7**(1): p. 191.
- 64. Yu, L., et al., *MRTF-A mediates LPS-induced pro-inflammatory transcription* by interacting with the COMPASS complex. J Cell Sci, 2014. **127**(Pt 21): p. 4645-57.
- 65. Carson, W.F.t., et al., *The STAT4/MLL1 Epigenetic Axis Regulates the Antimicrobial Functions of Murine Macrophages.* J Immunol, 2017. **199**(5): p. 1865-1874.
- 66. Austenaa, L., et al., *The histone methyltransferase Wbp7 controls macrophage function through GPI glycolipid anchor synthesis.* Immunity, 2012. **36**(4): p. 572-85.
- 67. Liu, Y., et al., *Histone lysine methyltransferase Ezh1 promotes TLR-triggered inflammatory cytokine production by suppressing Tollip.* J Immunol, 2015. **194**(6): p. 2838-46.
- 68. Zhu, Y., D. van Essen, and S. Saccani, *Cell-type-specific control of enhancer activity by H3K9 trimethylation*. Mol Cell, 2012. **46**(4): p. 408-23.
- 69. Jin, J., et al., *Noncanonical NF-κB pathway controls the production of type I interferons in antiviral innate immunity.* Immunity, 2014. **40**(3): p. 342-54.
- 70. Stender, J.D., et al., *Control of proinflammatory gene programs by regulated trimethylation and demethylation of histone H4K20.* Mol Cell, 2012. **48**(1): p. 28-38.
- 71. Tu, S., et al., *Identification of histone demethylases in Saccharomyces cerevisiae*. J Biol Chem, 2007. **282**(19): p. 14262-71.
- 72. Metzger, E., et al., *LSD1 demethylates repressive histone marks to promote androgen-receptor-dependent transcription.* Nature, 2005. **437**(7057): p. 436-9.
- 73. De Santa, F., et al., *The histone H3 lysine-27 demethylase Jmjd3 links inflammation to inhibition of polycomb-mediated gene silencing*. Cell, 2007. **130**(6): p. 1083-94.
- 74. De Santa, F., et al., *Jmjd3 contributes to the control of gene expression in LPS-activated macrophages.* Embo j, 2009. **28**(21): p. 3341-52.
- 75. Tang, Y., et al., *Jmjd3 is essential for the epigenetic modulation of microglia phenotypes in the immune pathogenesis of Parkinson's disease.* Cell Death Differ, 2014. **21**(3): p. 369-80.
- 76. Satoh, T., et al., *The Jmjd3-Irf4 axis regulates M2 macrophage polarization and host responses against helminth infection.* Nat Immunol, 2010. **11**(10): p. 936-44.
- 77. Zhou, Q., et al., *KDM2B promotes IL-6 production and inflammatory responses through Brg1-mediated chromatin remodeling*. Cell Mol Immunol, 2020. **17**(8): p. 834-842.
- van Essen, D., Y. Zhu, and S. Saccani, A feed-forward circuit controlling inducible NF-κB target gene activation by promoter histone demethylation. Mol Cell, 2010. **39**(5): p. 750-60.
- 79. Loenarz, C. and C.J. Schofield, *Expanding chemical biology of 2-oxoglutarate oxygenases*. Nat Chem Biol, 2008. **4**(3): p. 152-6.
- 80. Qi, H.H., et al., *Histone H4K20/H3K9 demethylase PHF8 regulates zebrafish brain and craniofacial development*. Nature, 2010. **466**(7305): p. 503-7.

- 81. Liu, W., et al., *PHF8 mediates histone H4 lysine 20 demethylation events involved in cell cycle progression*. Nature, 2010. **466**(7305): p. 508-12.
- 82. Kleine-Kohlbrecher, D., et al., *A functional link between the histone demethylase PHF8 and the transcription factor ZNF711 in X-linked mental retardation.* Mol Cell, 2010. **38**(2): p. 165-78.
- 83. Zhu, Z., et al., *PHF8 is a histone H3K9me2 demethylase regulating rRNA synthesis.* Cell Res, 2010. **20**(7): p. 794-801.
- 84. Sobering, A.K., et al., Variants in PHF8 cause a spectrum of X-linked neurodevelopmental disorders and facial dysmorphology. HGG Adv, 2022. 3(3): p. 100102.
- 85. Hu, Y., H. Mu, and Y. Yang, *Histone demethylase PHF8 promotes cell* growth and metastasis of non-small-cell lung cancer through activating Wnt/β-catenin signaling pathway. Histol Histopathol, 2021. 36(8): p. 869-877.
- 86. Liu, Q., et al., *Histone demethylase PHF8 drives neuroendocrine prostate cancer progression by epigenetically upregulating FOXA2*. J Pathol, 2021. 253(1): p. 106-118.
- 87. Ye, H., et al., *PHF8 Plays an Oncogene Function in Hepatocellular Carcinoma Formation*. Oncol Res, 2019. **27**(5): p. 613-621.
- 88. Ying, Z., et al., Short-Term Mitochondrial Permeability Transition Pore Opening Modulates Histone Lysine Methylation at the Early Phase of Somatic Cell Reprogramming. Cell Metab, 2018. **28**(6): p. 935-945.e5.
- 89. Asensio-Juan, E., C. Gallego, and M.A. Martínez-Balbás, *The histone demethylase PHF8 is essential for cytoskeleton dynamics*. Nucleic Acids Res, 2012. **40**(19): p. 9429-40.
- 90. Qiu, J., et al., *The X-linked mental retardation gene PHF8 is a histone demethylase involved in neuronal differentiation.* Cell Res, 2010. **20**(8): p. 908-18.
- 91. Chen, X., et al., *Phf8 histone demethylase deficiency causes cognitive impairments through the mTOR pathway.* Nat Commun, 2018. **9**(1): p. 114.
- 92. Erdoğan, Ö., et al., *Proteomic dissection of LPS-inducible, PHF8-dependent secretome reveals novel roles of PHF8 in TLR4-induced acute inflammation and T cell proliferation.* Sci Rep, 2016. **6**: p. 24833.
- 93. Asensio-Juan, E., et al., *The histone demethylase PHF8 is a molecular safeguard of the IFNy response*. Nucleic Acids Res, 2017. **45**(7): p. 3800-3811.
- 94. Viola, A., et al., *The Metabolic Signature of Macrophage Responses*. Front Immunol, 2019. **10**: p. 1462.
- 95. Voss, K., et al., *A guide to interrogating immunometabolism*. Nat Rev Immunol, 2021. **21**(10): p. 637-652.
- 96. O'Neill, L.A. and D.G. Hardie, *Metabolism of inflammation limited by AMPK and pseudo-starvation*. Nature, 2013. **493**(7432): p. 346-55.
- 97. Ganeshan, K. and A. Chawla, *Metabolic regulation of immune responses*. Annu Rev Immunol, 2014. **32**: p. 609-34.
- 98. Jackson, S.H., J.I. Gallin, and S.M. Holland, *The p47phox mouse knock-out model of chronic granulomatous disease*. J Exp Med, 1995. **182**(3): p. 751-8.
- 99. Yi, L., et al., *p47(phox) directs murine macrophage cell fate decisions*. Am J Pathol, 2012. **180**(3): p. 1049-1058.
- 100. Li, C., et al., *HIF1α-dependent glycolysis promotes macrophage functional activities in protecting against bacterial and fungal infection*. Sci Rep, 2018. 8(1): p. 3603.

- 101. Michl, J., D.J. Ohlbaum, and S.C. Silverstein, 2-Deoxyglucose selectively inhibits Fc and complement receptor-mediated phagocytosis in mouse peritoneal macrophages II. Dissociation of the inhibitory effects of 2deoxyglucose on phagocytosis and ATP generation. J Exp Med, 1976. 144(6): p. 1484-93.
- 102. Pavlou, S., et al., *Higher phagocytic activity of thioglycollate-elicited peritoneal macrophages is related to metabolic status of the cells.* J Inflamm (Lond), 2017. **14**: p. 4.
- 103. Racker, E., *Bioenergetics and the problem of tumor growth*. Am Sci, 1972. 60(1): p. 56-63.
- 104. Huang, S.C., et al., *Metabolic Reprogramming Mediated by the mTORC2-IRF4 Signaling Axis Is Essential for Macrophage Alternative Activation*. Immunity, 2016. **45**(4): p. 817-830.
- 105. Wang, F., et al., *Glycolytic Stimulation Is Not a Requirement for M2 Macrophage Differentiation.* Cell Metab, 2018. **28**(3): p. 463-475.e4.
- 106. O'Neill, L.A., *A broken krebs cycle in macrophages*. Immunity, 2015. **42**(3): p. 393-4.
- 107. Michelucci, A., et al., Immune-responsive gene 1 protein links metabolism to immunity by catalyzing itaconic acid production. Proc Natl Acad Sci U S A, 2013. 110(19): p. 7820-5.
- 108. Mills, E. and L.A. O'Neill, *Succinate: a metabolic signal in inflammation*. Trends Cell Biol, 2014. **24**(5): p. 313-20.
- 109. Batista-Gonzalez, A., et al., *New Insights on the Role of Lipid Metabolism in the Metabolic Reprogramming of Macrophages.* Front Immunol, 2019. **10**: p. 2993.
- 110. Infantino, V., et al., *The mitochondrial citrate carrier: a new player in inflammation*. Biochem J, 2011. **438**(3): p. 433-6.
- 111. Ecker, J., et al., Induction of fatty acid synthesis is a key requirement for phagocytic differentiation of human monocytes. Proc Natl Acad Sci U S A, 2010. **107**(17): p. 7817-22.
- 112. Dibble, C.C. and B.D. Manning, *Signal integration by mTORC1 coordinates nutrient input with biosynthetic output*. Nat Cell Biol, 2013. **15**(6): p. 555-64.
- 113. Im, S.S., et al., *Linking lipid metabolism to the innate immune response in macrophages through sterol regulatory element binding protein-1a.* Cell Metab, 2011. **13**(5): p. 540-9.
- 114. Odegaard, J.I. and A. Chawla, *Alternative macrophage activation and metabolism*. Annu Rev Pathol, 2011. **6**: p. 275-97.
- 115. Malandrino, M.I., et al., *Enhanced fatty acid oxidation in adipocytes and macrophages reduces lipid-induced triglyceride accumulation and inflammation.* Am J Physiol Endocrinol Metab, 2015. **308**(9): p. E756-69.
- 116. Odegaard, J.I., et al., *Alternative M2 activation of Kupffer cells by PPARdelta ameliorates obesity-induced insulin resistance*. Cell Metab, 2008. **7**(6): p. 496-507.
- 117. Kelly, B. and E.L. Pearce, *Amino Assets: How Amino Acids Support Immunity*. Cell Metab, 2020. **32**(2): p. 154-175.
- 118. Martí, I.L.A.A. and W. Reith, *Arginine-dependent immune responses*. Cell Mol Life Sci, 2021. **78**(13): p. 5303-5324.
- 119. Palmieri, E.M., et al., Nitric oxide orchestrates metabolic rewiring in M1 macrophages by targeting aconitase 2 and pyruvate dehydrogenase. Nat Commun, 2020. **11**(1): p. 698.

- 120. Liu, P.S., et al., α-ketoglutarate orchestrates macrophage activation through metabolic and epigenetic reprogramming. Nat Immunol, 2017. 18(9): p. 985-994.
- 121. Jha, A.K., et al., *Network integration of parallel metabolic and transcriptional data reveals metabolic modules that regulate macrophage polarization*. Immunity, 2015. **42**(3): p. 419-30.
- 122. Neinast, M.D., et al., *Quantitative Analysis of the Whole-Body Metabolic Fate of Branched-Chain Amino Acids*. Cell Metab, 2019. **29**(2): p. 417-429.e4.
- 123. Cameron, A.M., S.J. Lawless, and E.J. Pearce, *Metabolism and acetylation in innate immune cell function and fate*. Semin Immunol, 2016. 28(5): p. 408-416.
- 124. Yeung, F., et al., *Modulation of NF-kappaB-dependent transcription and cell survival by the SIRT1 deacetylase*. Embo j, 2004. **23**(12): p. 2369-80.
- 125. He, M., et al., An Acetylation Switch of the NLRP3 Inflammasome Regulates Aging-Associated Chronic Inflammation and Insulin Resistance. Cell Metab, 2020. **31**(3): p. 580-591.e5.
- 126. Nishitani, S., et al., Branched-chain amino acids improve glucose metabolism in rats with liver cirrhosis. Am J Physiol Gastrointest Liver Physiol, 2005.
 288(6): p. G1292-300.
- 127. Wu, Q., et al., Serine and Metabolism Regulation: A Novel Mechanism in Antitumor Immunity and Senescence. Aging Dis, 2020. **11**(6): p. 1640-1653.
- 128. Lu, S.C., *S-Adenosylmethionine*. Int J Biochem Cell Biol, 2000. **32**(4): p. 391-5.
- 129. Mak, T.W., et al., *Glutathione Primes T Cell Metabolism for Inflammation*. Immunity, 2017. **46**(4): p. 675-689.
- 130. Murphy, M.P. and L.A.J. O'Neill, *Krebs Cycle Reimagined: The Emerging Roles of Succinate and Itaconate as Signal Transducers*. Cell, 2018. **174**(4): p. 780-784.
- 131. Zasłona, Z. and L.A.J. O'Neill, *Cytokine-like Roles for Metabolites in Immunity*. Mol Cell, 2020. **78**(5): p. 814-823.
- 132. Saeed, S., et al., *Epigenetic programming of monocyte-to-macrophage differentiation and trained innate immunity.* Science, 2014. **345**(6204): p. 1251086.
- 133. Timblin, G.A., et al., *Mitohormesis reprogrammes macrophage metabolism to enforce tolerance*. Nat Metab, 2021. **3**(5): p. 618-635.
- 134. Drazic, A., et al., *The world of protein acetylation*. Biochim Biophys Acta, 2016. **1864**(10): p. 1372-401.
- 135. Kauppinen, A., et al., Antagonistic crosstalk between NF-κB and SIRT1 in the regulation of inflammation and metabolic disorders. Cell Signal, 2013. 25(10): p. 1939-48.
- 136. Ye, C., et al., A Metabolic Function for Phospholipid and Histone Methylation. Mol Cell, 2017. 66(2): p. 180-193.e8.
- 137. Ding, W., et al., *s*-Adenosylmethionine Levels Govern Innate Immunity through Distinct Methylation-Dependent Pathways. Cell Metab, 2015. **22**(4): p. 633-45.
- 138. Shen, L., et al., Serine metabolism antagonizes antiviral innate immunity by preventing ATP6V0d2-mediated YAP lysosomal degradation. Cell Metab, 2021. **33**(5): p. 971-987.e6.
- 139. Tannahill, G.M., et al., *Succinate is an inflammatory signal that induces IL-1β through HIF-1α*. Nature, 2013. **496**(7444): p. 238-42.

- 140. Williams, N.C. and L.A.J. O'Neill, A Role for the Krebs Cycle Intermediate Citrate in Metabolic Reprogramming in Innate Immunity and Inflammation. Front Immunol, 2018. 9: p. 141.
- 141. Lampropoulou, V., et al., *Itaconate Links Inhibition of Succinate Dehydrogenase with Macrophage Metabolic Remodeling and Regulation of Inflammation.* Cell Metab, 2016. **24**(1): p. 158-66.
- 142. Cairns, R.A. and T.W. Mak, Oncogenic isocitrate dehydrogenase mutations: mechanisms, models, and clinical opportunities. Cancer Discov, 2013. **3**(7): p. 730-41.
- 143. Tahiliani, M., et al., Conversion of 5-methylcytosine to 5hydroxymethylcytosine in mammalian DNA by MLL partner TET1. Science, 2009. **324**(5929): p. 930-5.
- 144. Sciacovelli, M., et al., *Fumarate is an epigenetic modifier that elicits epithelial-to-mesenchymal transition*. Nature, 2016. **537**(7621): p. 544-547.
- 145. Arts, R.J., et al., *Glutaminolysis and Fumarate Accumulation Integrate Immunometabolic and Epigenetic Programs in Trained Immunity*. Cell Metab, 2016. **24**(6): p. 807-819.
- 146. Liu, Z., et al., Melatonin alleviates adipose inflammation through elevating α ketoglutarate and diverting adipose-derived exosomes to macrophages in mice. J Pineal Res, 2018. **64**(1).
- 147. Palmieri, F., *The mitochondrial transporter family (SLC25): physiological and pathological implications.* Pflugers Arch, 2004. **447**(5): p. 689-709.
- 148. Saggerson, D., *Malonyl-CoA*, *a key signaling molecule in mammalian cells*. Annu Rev Nutr, 2008. **28**: p. 253-72.
- Paumen, M.B., et al., Inhibition of carnitine palmitoyltransferase I augments sphingolipid synthesis and palmitate-induced apoptosis. J Biol Chem, 1997.
 272(6): p. 3324-9.
- 150. Murayama, A., et al., *Epigenetic control of rDNA loci in response to intracellular energy status*. Cell, 2008. **133**(4): p. 627-39.
- 151. de Kreutzenberg, S.V., et al., Downregulation of the longevity-associated protein sirtuin 1 in insulin resistance and metabolic syndrome: potential biochemical mechanisms. Diabetes, 2010. **59**(4): p. 1006-15.
- 152. Zhang, R., et al., SIRT1 suppresses activator protein-1 transcriptional activity and cyclooxygenase-2 expression in macrophages. J Biol Chem, 2010. 285(10): p. 7097-110.
- 153. Netea, M.G., J. Quintin, and J.W. van der Meer, *Trained immunity: a memory for innate host defense*. Cell Host Microbe, 2011. **9**(5): p. 355-61.
- 154. Netea, M.G., et al., *Defining trained immunity and its role in health and disease*. Nat Rev Immunol, 2020. **20**(6): p. 375-388.
- 155. Groh, L.A., et al., *oxLDL-Induced Trained Immunity Is Dependent on Mitochondrial Metabolic Reprogramming.* Immunometabolism, 2021. **3**(3): p. e210025.
- 156. Adib-Conquy, M. and J.M. Cavaillon, *Compensatory anti-inflammatory response syndrome*. Thromb Haemost, 2009. **101**(1): p. 36-47.
- 157. Quintin, J., et al., Candida albicans infection affords protection against reinfection via functional reprogramming of monocytes. Cell Host Microbe, 2012. **12**(2): p. 223-32.
- 158. Ostuni, R., et al., *Latent enhancers activated by stimulation in differentiated cells*. Cell, 2013. **152**(1-2): p. 157-71.

- 159. El Gazzar, M., et al., *G9a and HP1 couple histone and DNA methylation to TNFalpha transcription silencing during endotoxin tolerance.* J Biol Chem, 2008. **283**(47): p. 32198-208.
- 160. Yang, X., et al., *Epigenetic regulation of macrophage polarization by DNA methyltransferase 3b.* Mol Endocrinol, 2014. **28**(4): p. 565-74.
- 161. Cheng, S.C., et al., *mTOR-* and *HIF-1α-mediated* aerobic glycolysis as *metabolic basis for trained immunity*. Science, 2014. **345**(6204): p. 1250684.
- 162. Bekkering, S., et al., *Metabolic Induction of Trained Immunity through the Mevalonate Pathway*. Cell, 2018. **172**(1-2): p. 135-146.e9.
- 163. Keating, S.T., et al., The Set7 Lysine Methyltransferase Regulates Plasticity in Oxidative Phosphorylation Necessary for Trained Immunity Induced by β-Glucan. Cell Rep, 2020. 31(3): p. 107548.
- 164. Covarrubias, A.J., H.I. Aksoylar, and T. Horng, *Control of macrophage metabolism and activation by mTOR and Akt signaling*. Semin Immunol, 2015. **27**(4): p. 286-96.
- 165. O'Neill, L.A., R.J. Kishton, and J. Rathmell, *A guide to immunometabolism for immunologists*. Nat Rev Immunol, 2016. **16**(9): p. 553-65.
- 166. Lee, P.S., et al., *mTORC1-S6K activation by endotoxin contributes to cytokine up-regulation and early lethality in animals.* PLoS One, 2010. **5**(12): p. e14399.
- 167. Guerau-de-Arellano, M., Z.L. Piedra-Quintero, and P.N. Tsichlis, *Akt isoforms in the immune system*. Front Immunol, 2022. **13**: p. 990874.
- Arranz, A., et al., Akt1 and Akt2 protein kinases differentially contribute to macrophage polarization. Proc Natl Acad Sci U S A, 2012. 109(24): p. 9517-22.
- 169. Szegezdi, E., et al., *Mediators of endoplasmic reticulum stress-induced apoptosis.* EMBO Rep, 2006. **7**(9): p. 880-5.
- 170. Hotamisligil, G.S., *Endoplasmic reticulum stress and the inflammatory basis of metabolic disease*. Cell, 2010. **140**(6): p. 900-17.
- 171. Adachi, Y., et al., *ATF6 is a transcription factor specializing in the regulation of quality control proteins in the endoplasmic reticulum*. Cell Struct Funct, 2008. **33**(1): p. 75-89.
- 172. Rashid, H.O., et al., *ER stress: Autophagy induction, inhibition and selection.* Autophagy, 2015. **11**(11): p. 1956-1977.
- 173. Hetz, C., *The unfolded protein response: controlling cell fate decisions under ER stress and beyond.* Nat Rev Mol Cell Biol, 2012. **13**(2): p. 89-102.
- 174. Morito, D. and K. Nagata, *ER Stress Proteins in Autoimmune and Inflammatory Diseases*. Front Immunol, 2012. **3**: p. 48.
- 175. Shenderov, K., et al., Cutting edge: Endoplasmic reticulum stress licenses macrophages to produce mature IL-1β in response to TLR4 stimulation through a caspase-8- and TRIF-dependent pathway. J Immunol, 2014. 192(5): p. 2029-2033.
- 176. Bettigole, S.E. and L.H. Glimcher, *Endoplasmic reticulum stress in immunity*. Annu Rev Immunol, 2015. **33**: p. 107-38.
- 177. Martinon, F., et al., *TLR activation of the transcription factor XBP1 regulates innate immune responses in macrophages*. Nat Immunol, 2010. **11**(5): p. 411-8.
- 178. Vig, M. and J.P. Kinet, *Calcium signaling in immune cells*. Nat Immunol, 2009. **10**(1): p. 21-7.

- 179. Menu, P., et al., *ER stress activates the NLRP3 inflammasome via an UPR-independent pathway.* Cell Death Dis, 2012. **3**(1): p. e261.
- 180. Hasnain, S.Z., et al., *The interplay between endoplasmic reticulum stress and inflammation*. Immunol Cell Biol, 2012. **90**(3): p. 260-70.
- 181. Takeuchi, T., et al., Intercellular chaperone transmission via exosomes contributes to maintenance of protein homeostasis at the organismal level. Proc Natl Acad Sci U S A, 2015. 112(19): p. E2497-506.
- 182. Mahadevan, N.R., et al., *Transmission of endoplasmic reticulum stress and pro-inflammation from tumor cells to myeloid cells*. Proc Natl Acad Sci U S A, 2011. **108**(16): p. 6561-6.
- 183. Ozcan, L. and I. Tabas, *Role of endoplasmic reticulum stress in metabolic disease and other disorders*. Annu Rev Med, 2012. **63**: p. 317-28.
- 184. Shan, B., et al., *The metabolic ER stress sensor IRE1α suppresses alternative activation of macrophages and impairs energy expenditure in obesity.* Nat Immunol, 2017. **18**(5): p. 519-529.
- 185. Oh, J., et al., Endoplasmic reticulum stress controls M2 macrophage differentiation and foam cell formation. J Biol Chem, 2012. 287(15): p. 11629-41.
- 186. Kropski, J.A. and T.S. Blackwell, *Endoplasmic reticulum stress in the pathogenesis of fibrotic disease*. J Clin Invest, 2018. **128**(1): p. 64-73.
- 187. Ieronymaki, E., et al., Insulin Resistance in Macrophages Alters Their Metabolism and Promotes an M2-Like Phenotype. J Immunol, 2019. 202(6): p. 1786-1797.
- 188. Merkwirth, C., et al., *Two Conserved Histone Demethylases Regulate Mitochondrial Stress-Induced Longevity*. Cell, 2016. **165**(5): p. 1209-1223.
- 189. Salminen, A., K. Kaarniranta, and A. Kauppinen, ER stress activates immunosuppressive network: implications for aging and Alzheimer's disease. J Mol Med (Berl), 2020. 98(5): p. 633-650.